Welcome to the dark side of web development:

managing tensions between business

strategy and business ethics.

Maarten Brakkee

Master thesis 23 June 2022

Student number:

580076

	Master Media Studies: Media & Creative Industries
Supervisor:	Erasmus school of History, Culture and Communication
dr. Sven-Ove Horst	Erasmus University Rotterdam, The Netherland

WELCOME TO THE DARK SIDE OF WEB DEVELOPMENT: MANAGING TENSIONS BETWEEN BUSINESS STRATEGY AND BUSINESS ETHICS.

ABSTRACT

As digital technologies become more pervasive in our daily lives, both hopes and worries arise regarding their design, development, and implementation. The contrast between design choices that originate from business strategy or from ethics becomes more and more visible. While both business strategy and business ethics in the digital world are increasingly researched, the relationship between them has stayed largely unknown. To explore this further, this thesis focuses on the research question: "How do Dutch web developers manage tensions between business strategy and business strategy and business ethics?".

For the context of this study web developers are defined as individuals who are involved with the designing or building of websites or web applications. The designers can be divided into three groups: User Experience (UX) designers, Interaction (IxD) designers and User Interface (UI) designers. Although these are three different specialisations, there is a lot that overlaps. The category of builders, on the other hand, consists of people who code, construct, analyse and manage websites or web applications. They are often divided into three categories as well: front-end developers, backend developers and full-stack developers

A qualitative approach was used in this research, as this research used language to try to comprehend concepts based on the experiences of a population. A total of 11 in-depth interviews with web developers in the Netherlands were conducted. Studying this data, three themes emerged: decisions based on feelings, unfamiliarity and design choices. First, decisions based on feelings illustrates how participants use their personal feelings in decision-making when it comes to ethics, privacy and strategy. The second theme, unfamiliarity, shows the unawareness of the interviewees about guidelines, their company's strategy and ethics in web development. The last theme of design choices touches upon user-centred design, unethical design and contradicting design choices.

All in all, the results of this research show that ethics play a large role in the daily of web developers and that there is a strong relationship between ethics and business strategy.

KEYWORDS: strategy as practice; ethics as practice; web development; design choice; unfamiliarity

Word count: 015702

Table of contents

Abstract	1
Table of contents	2
1. Introduction	4
1.1 Theoretical relevance	4
1.2 Societal relevance	5
1.3 Practical relevance	5
1.4 Chapter outline	6
2. Theoretical framework	7
2.1 Business strategy as a social practice	7
2.2 Business ethics as practice	7
2.2.1 Recognising ethical issues	8
2.3 Web development as a context	8
2.3.1 Strategy and web development	9
2.3.2 Ethics and web development	
3. Methodology	
3.1 Choice of method	
3.2 Data collection	
3.3 Operationalization	14
3.4 Data analysis	
3.5 Quality criteria	16
3.5.1 Reliability and validity	16
3.5.2 Ethical considerations	17
4. Results	
4.1 Decisions based on feelings	
4.1.1 Ethical decisions based on feelings	
4.1.2 Privacy decisions based on feelings	20
4.1.3 Strategical decisions based on feelings	21

4.2 Unfamiliarity	22
4.2.1 Unfamiliarity with guidelines	22
4.2.2 Unfamiliarity with company strategy	23
4.2.3 Unfamiliarity with ethics in web development	23
4.3 Design choices	24
4.3.1 User-centred design	24
4.3.2 Design choices based on ethics	25
4.3.3 Contradicting choices	27
5. Discussion	
5.1 Comparison with the literature	
5.1.1 Decisions based on feelings	
5.1.2 Unfamiliarity	
5.1.3 Design choices	35
5.2 Reflection on the conducted research	
5.3 Implications for practice	
5.4 Limitations	
5.5 Suggestions for further research	
6. Conclusion	
References	
Appendix A: Informed consent form	
Appendix B: Interview guide	55
Appendix C: Respondents' characteristics	58
Appendix D: Coding tree	

1. Introduction

Imagine being on a walk with friends and one of them is enthusiastically talking about their new shoes. Back home you open your phone and start scrolling through some news sites. One of the advertisements grabs your attention. There, on your screen, without searching for them, are your friend's new shoes. The example above might already be familiar to some and shows the pervasiveness of technologies nowadays. As digital technologies become more pervasive in our daily lives, both hopes and worries arise regarding their design, development, and implementation (Cath et al., 2018). The contrast between design choices that originate from business strategy or from ethics becomes more and more visible. While both business strategy and business ethics in the digital world are increasingly researched, the relationship between them has stayed largely unknown (e.g., Bösch et al., 2016; Floridi, 2019; Galaggher, 2020; Olson et al., 2021; Tomanek et al., 2014). To explore this further, this thesis will focus on the following research question: "How do Dutch web developers manage tensions between business strategy and business ethics?".

1.1 Theoretical relevance

There are few studies that link strategy behaviour to questions of ethics as a practice in a digital setting, such as web development. Much knowledge has been gained about strategy: from military strategy (e.g., Tzŭ, 1994) to strategy in organizations (e.g., Rasche, 2008). However, this has mainly been about the effect strategy has on performance. Next to the mainstream strategy research, the area of strategy as practice focuses more on the process of strategy: an in-depth analysis of what occurs in strategy creation, planning and execution (Golsorkhi et al., 2015; Whittington, 2006). Thus, strategy as practice helps to increase understanding of what others do, what practices they follow, and how this relates to certain outcomes and contexts. The field of strategy as practice can therefore further increase knowledge about strategy use in digital settings, as little research has been conducted on the subject (Olson et al., 2021).

In the same way as strategy, business ethics can be seen as a practice. Instead of focussing on models that "define, predict or judge", ethics as practice focuses more on how ethics are ingrained differently in various practices that work in a contextualized and active manner (Clegg et al., 2007, p. 111). When looking at ethics in organisations, competitiveness can be seen as one of the reasons for unethical behaviour (Chau & Siu, 2000; Pierce et al., 2013). This is sensible, as Nietzsche (2016) early on established that ethics and power relations are intricately intertwined. In this way, ethics is linked to strategy, since corporate strategy is concerned with deciding "how to compete" (Olson et al., 2021, p. 286). Some researchers furthermore argue that business strategy should be constructed on

an ethical foundation (Freeman & Gilbert, 1988). This can be seen as a reasonable viewpoint, as workers on virtually every organizational layer come into contact with strategy (Mantere, 2005; Spender & Grant, 1996).

All in all, there is has been research conducted on both ethics and strategy in a digital setting, however literature on the relationship between them is missing. This research will help contribute to that discourse.

1.2 Societal relevance

Currently, the digital world continues to grow. IT has become an overcrowded market with a shortage of workers (Dominus, 2022; Sloyan, 2022). As a result, labourers are not aware of the possible negative consequences of their creations (e.g., Narayanan et al., 2020). One of these consequences is the issue of ethics in the digital age. Over the years, the ethical responsibility of web developers over their products has been questioned in society (e.g., Chandler & Barrett, 2019; McMullan, 2014; Pancake, 2018). That the ethical part of web development processes is being questioned is not peculiar. Online web services, like social media and e-commerce websites, are another example of unethical web products. These services are becoming increasingly skilled at tricking users into disclosing personal information (Bösch et al., 2016), despite regulations being implemented (e.g., Forbrukerrådet, 2018; Laboratoire d'innovation numérique de la CNIL, 2019).

With currently almost everyone being a user of web services, the diversity of the web service's userbases has grown. The need for development speed in combination with a high level of vacancies forces web services to cut corners and develop more towards a generic user. Because of this, the diversity of the userbase is not always matched, leaving a large part of the web services unusable for non-generic users, such as blind or illiterate people. As web applications and services are becoming more and more the backbone of society, digitalisation and the growing userbase will only demand more sophisticated products.

1.3 Practical relevance

Researching the level of tension between strategy and ethics in web development has its practical relevance as well. By gaining insights into the concepts under study, both web developers and their managers, could expand their knowledge on the subject. This could help them make more informed decisions about how strategy relates to ethics. These improved judgements will allow them to consider the ethical implications of their decisions and work.

1.4 Chapter outline

This thesis will continue after this introduction with an in-depth analysis of currently available literature on the subject. After the theoretical framework, the methods and procedures of this research are described in the methodology chapter. In the following chapter, the results are presented and interpreted. Next, the results are compared with the literature from the theoretical framework, a reflection on the conducted research, implications of the found results, limitations of the study and suggestions for further research will be shared. Finally, this thesis will end with a summarizing conclusion.

2. Theoretical framework

To better understand business strategy as a social practice and business ethics as practice, including their connection to web development, all three distinct fields of research will be outlined in this chapter.

2.1 Business strategy as a social practice

The concept of strategy has been discussed for a long time. While there are different definitions of the concept, this research uses Whittington's (2006) definition of strategy: something that individuals do with things of which the effects spread through whole societies. Therefore, it can be researched in a variety of ways (Whittington, 2007). One of those is viewing strategy as a practice. Research on strategy-as-practice (SAP) is not about theory, but more about how strategy is practised (Kohtamäki et al., 2018). As a result, SAP researchers have come up with their own definition of strategy. According to them, strategy is primarily something that individuals do, showing a strong emphasis on strategy practitioners (Jarzabkowski & Spee, 2009; Whittington, 2006).

Practitioners is one of the three concepts to understand SAP defined by Whittington (2006). The other two are praxis and practices. To begin with, strategy practitioners are individuals who create, shape and implement strategies (Whittington, 2006). Practitioners are not only the managers in organizations, as plenty of other jobs contain strategy work (Mantere, 2005; Spender & Grant, 1996). Next, the term practices refers to the "routines and norms" of strategic work (Whittington, 2007, p. 1579). Whittington mentions that these practices can be standalone (e.g., doing strategy sessions) as well as implied in strategy tools (e.g., computer software). And finally, strategy praxis is concerned with strategy actions, or what individuals do in practice (Whittington, 2006, 2007).

2.2 Business ethics as practice

Just like with strategy, there are multiple definitions of ethics. In this research Bietti's (2021) definition is used: "the study of good and bad character, appropriate behaviour, and virtue" (p. 3). When it comes to business ethics, there are different views on ethical issues as well. On the one hand, there are researchers who think ethics is an individual issue (Ibarra-Colada, 2002; Soares, 2003). Others, on the other hand, believe that ethics is ensured by as well as through bureaucratic structures (Du Gay, 2000). This research will utilize a more mixed view of ethical issues, as suggested by Clegg et al. (2007), in which ethical issues do not have a single actor. In addition, Clegg mentions that researching business ethics is difficult as there are many frameworks that individuals in organisations use to make value judgments and decisions. Together with a growth in various ethical

guidelines, their diversity creates inconsistency and misunderstanding among their users, especially in terms of which one is most suitable (Floridi, 2019). The reason for these problems is related to the origin of ethical issues. Carter et al. (2007) argue that there is no single solution for ethical problems as they arise in a variety of situations and contexts. Clegg et al. (2007) agree with this, naming subjection to contestation as a certainty of ethics. Thus, instead of analysing the existing ethical guidelines and frameworks, this research will focus more on ethics as a practice.

2.2.1 Recognising ethical issues

When ethical standards are put into practice there are threats that can undermine them. Floridi (2019) names five risks when it comes to digital ethics: shopping, bluewashing, lobbying, dumping and shirking. First, ethics shopping happens at the end of the production process. Rather than implementing and testing new behaviours (e.g., decisions, procedures and strategies) against public standards, matching parts are selected from various ethical standards to fit existing behaviours. This results in a kind of Frankenstein's monster: various pieces stitched together causing them to lose their purpose overall. Next, Floridi describes ethics bluewashing as making unjustified or deceptive statements about applied ethical standards in order to look more ethical than actually is the case. An example would be e-commerce websites showing an unobtained quality mark. Ethics lobbying can be understood as the exploitation of digital ethics in order to postpone, alter, replace or reject required regulations, or its administration, on digital processes and products. Most of the time this originates from actors that cannot or will not comply with the proposed regulations. The fourth risk is ethics dumping, which consists of two parts. First, research on digital processes and products are exported to other areas to bypass local ethical standards. The results of the unethical research are thereafter imported for the second part. This could mean that research on ethics is done in another country, one that has more acceptable ethical standards, while the results of this study are applied in a country with stricter ethical standards. Finally, ethics shirking happens when double standards are applied as the result of injustice or selfish motives. For instance, less ethical labour will be done when an actor decides not to comply with upcoming regulations. This will lead to a perception of lower ethical standards overall in that context.

2.3 Web development as a context

With the rise of the World Wide Web at the beginning of the 1990s a new profession surfaced, that of web developers. For the context of this study web developers will be defined as individuals who are involved with the designing or building of websites or web applications. The designers can be divided into three groups: User Experience (UX) designers, Interaction (IxD) designers and User

8

Interface (UI) designers (Robbins, 2018). Although these are three different specialisations, there is a lot that overlaps. As a result, it is not unusual for a single team member to handle more than one of these roles. Robbins describes the role of the UI designer as one that focuses more specifically on the page's functional structure and the elements that users use to navigate or complete tasks. IxD designers are concentrating their efforts more on making the site as simple, efficient, and enjoyable to use as possible. Finally, the role of UX designer overlaps with the previous ones, as all elements of a user's contact with a product are considered in UX design, including how the product is viewed, learnt, and used.

The category of builders, on the other hand, consists of people who code, construct, analyse and manage websites or web applications. They are often divided into three categories as well: frontend developers, back-end developers and full-stack developers (Wales, 2021). Front-end developers generally work on the portion of a website that the user will interact with, whereas back-end developers work on the part that controls logic, databases, servers, etc. (Borowski, 2017). Full-stack web developers work on both the front-end as well as the back-end.

The following two sections will further explore strategy and ethics and their presence in web development.

2.3.1 Strategy and web development

Since its introduction in 1970 the waterfall development method has been widely used (Tomanek et al., 2014). In this method, all requirements are defined in advance. With no option to change the scope of the project, the solution is then "designed, coded, tested and released" (Tomanek et al., 2014, p. 550). Due to the clearly defined phases of this method, managing methods started to appear that aligned with the waterfall's different phases (e.g., PRINCE2). However, this way of working did not prove to be suitable for the changing industry.

Due to ever-changing company requirements, the modern economic climate required a faster time to market and increased flexibility (Basl & Doucek, 2012). As a result, Beck et al. (2001) came up with the Agile Manifesto. The manifesto defined 12 principles to enable teams to keep up with the fast changes in individuals, technologies and organizations (Cockburn, 2005). While there are mainly positive sounds on agile working, it has been criticized as well. Due to the brief manifesto, there is a lot up to interpretation. For instance, some experts argue that the manifesto should talk about usable software instead of working software so that the usability aspect may receive more attention (Coplien & Bjørnvig, 2011). Despite the critiques, agile working became soon an industry-standard through the Scrum framework. Scrum's popularity rapidly increased at the beginning of the 2000s, making it the most popular agile framework around the world (Scrum.org, n.d.; Sutherland et al., 2020). Since its creation in the 1990s by two of the Agile Manifesto authors, Schwaber and Sutherland, millions of developers learned to use it through the Scrum Guide (ScrumGuides.org, n.d.; Sutherland et al., 2020). While scrum is rather simple when it comes to structure (the Scrum Guide consists of no more than 20 pages) it allows teams to extend or improve to their own preference (Sutherland et al., 2020).

In the Scrum Guide, Schwaber and Sutherland (2020) define a few roles inside a scrum team, namely: scum masters, product owners and developers. Each team can have multiple developers, but only one scrum master and one product owner. The product owner is responsible for maximizing the value of the end product, mostly by managing the scrum's backlog of tasks. Next, the scrum master is responsible for everyone's right understanding, both inside and outside the team, of scrum in a theoretical and practical way, for a smooth continuation of the process.

Aside from the individual roles in scrum, there are a few other things that shape the methodology. Sprints are the centrepiece events of a scrum. These recurrent events have a maximum duration of one month and have a fixed length. Sprints are filled with tasks from the backlog before started with no room for changes while being underway. Daily Scrum is another important part of scrum. In the 15-minute daily meeting, all team members share their progress and issues they experience in the current sprint tasks. Schwaber and Sutherland (2020) describe this as a way to "improve communications, identify impediments, promote quick decision-making, and consequently eliminate the need for other meetings" (p. 9).

In this way Scrum can be seen as consisting of multiple SAP practices, because they are frequently referred to as common practices and procedures for, among other things, acting (Whittington, 2006). Moving away from IT development approaches like the waterfall method, in which everything related to a product was defined beforehand, and towards more situational approaches like Scrum results in a shifting from top-down strategic planning towards a more SAP approach as well (Horst et al., 2019).

2.3.2 Ethics and web development

The first discussions about website ethics emerged a few years after the first websites were launched (Woodbury, 1998). Especially the issue of privacy surfaced in the mid-1990s (Bösch et al., 2016). As a response to these issues, *Privacy by Design* was formed, consisting of seven principles: proactive, not reactive (1), privacy as the default setting (2), privacy embedded into design (3), full functionality (4), end-to-end security (5), visibility and transparency (6) and respect for user privacy (7) (Cavoukian, 2011). Although these principles helped create ethical guidance, they are often criticised for being "too unspecific to be directly applied to a development process" (Bösch et al., 2016, p. 240).

A couple of years later the interest in web ethics was sparked again. This time by the introduction of the concept of *dark patterns* (Brignull, n.d.). Brignull defines dark patterns as website and app tricks that force you to do something you did not want to do. While dark patterns are sometimes the result of something unanticipated by their creator, they are often created intentionally (Mathur et al., 2021). In addition to being the result of unethical design choices, many dark patterns are already unlawful, as regulations against them have been developed (Mathur et al., 2021; Narayanan et al., 2020).

That users can easily be manipulated by dark patterns can be explained. The aesthetic appeal of a website namely influences both consumer trust and their intentions (Swaak et al., 2009). Additionally, previous research shows that companies with a higher customer focus do better in terms of corporate social responsibility (CSR) (e.g., Jansson et al., 2017; Kiessling et al., 2016). CSR is a multidimensional concept that represents a company's reaction to a variety of stakeholders' expectations and needs (Yuan et al., 2018). Additionally, Yuan et al. note that CSR has a favourable effect on customers' opinions of companies and their buying habits. Focusing on the end user in web development might not always be easy, as it would be challenging to persuade others of its significance (Swaak et al., 2009). However, it is ethical difficulties like this in which ethics as practice serves its purpose. Ethics as practice entails a willingness to accept and discuss ethical challenges that were left out in favour of performance (Clegg et al., 2007).

3. Methodology

The following chapter describes in detail the methods and procedures of this research. To ensure this research maintains a high level of transparency, validity and reliability, this chapter will provide detailed information on methodological decisions, data collection, data analysis and quality criteria (Meyrick, 2006; Whittemore et al., 2001).

3.1 Choice of method

This research aims to understand how Dutch web developers manage tensions between business ethics and business strategy. As social relevance has shown, web development has become an important part of society. Additionally, theoretical relevance showed little research has been done on the subject. Therefore, a quantitative approach to evaluate objective theories by analysing the relations between variables (Creswell & Creswell, 2018), would not be of fit. Instead, because ethical issues are dependable on context and situations (Carter et al., 2007; Munro, 2016), this research will document web developers' individual experiences to acquire a rich knowledge of their views in connection to the concept under study (Brennen, 2017). This will be done though using language to try to comprehend concepts based on the experiences of a population. As a result, this approach will assist in understanding the various values and meanings associated with web development as well as the relationships that exist between web development and society.

In order to address the research question, it is necessary to figure out what and how web developers think about business ethics and business strategy. Conducting interviews with individuals will aid in a better understanding of how they perceive and experience the world (Kvale, 1996). More specifically, semi-structured interviews will be used since they allow comparison between participants and leave room for further exploration by using follow-up questions (Rubin & Rubin, 2005). By using these in-depth interviews it is possible to acquire a far more intimate perspective on the concept under study (Rubin & Rubin, 2005). Additionally, semi-structured interviews will allow meaning-making responses, which is vital given the exploratory nature of this study (Legarde et al., 2003).

3.2 Data collection

There are 400,000 IT professionals in the Netherlands, of which 55,000 are entrepreneurs (Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek [CBS], 2021). Moreover, web developers account for 4,3% (17,200) of IT professionals (De Wit & Kalkhoven, 2019). In addition, a notable difference can be

observed between the number of females (16.5%) and males (83.5%) with an IT profession (CBS, 2021).

In the academic world, there is a constant discussion concerning the sample size in qualitative research. Scholars generally agree that saturation is the solution to the issue of the proper sample size (Dworkin, 2012; Malterud et al., 2016; Mason, 2010). Saturation happens when data collection ceases producing fresh, usable information. In terms of the ideal sample size, it depends a lot on a variety of factors. However, a major part of the academic literature suggests that the saturation point lies between 5 and 50 participants (Dworkin, 2012). To guarantee a good balance between in-depth observations, feasibility and saturation, this research will be using a sample size that lies in the given range.

Due to not all employed web developers being known, this research used a non-probability sampling method (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). To ensure data relevancy, typical purposive sampling was used in which participants that meet the research's needs and are average cases are selected (Flick, 2009; Morse, 2004). In addition, snowball sampling was used for the inclusion of data sources that might have been unable to access initially (Atkinson & Flint, 2004).

Participants were initially be recruited through business-focused social media LinkedIn. LinkedIn is quite popular in the Netherlands, with even more users than the Dutch working population (CBS, 2021; NapoleonCat, 2022). It should be mentioned here that LinkedIn only blocks fake accounts, thus the number of real user accounts could be lower (Hallman, 2021). Potential candidates were searched on the social medium by using various roles web developers can have, as mentioned earlier: web developer, UX designer, UI designer, IxD designer, front-end developer, backend developer and full-stack developer. Found web developers were filtered to include only Dutchemployed web developers with at least one year of experience, as experience can be a meaningful contribution. Next, the filtered web developers were recruited via direct messages on LinkedIn. In this message, the research and what will be expected of the participants was explained. In case of more than sufficient responses, this research selected most typical cases, while remaining positive responders were kept for backup reasons.

Interviews with participants were planned in consultation after their recruitment. Due to the continuing COVID-19 pandemic, conducting interviews in person would have been difficult. To strengthen the feasibility of this research, interviews were conducted in person or via video calls.

To ensure that the participant has knowledge of the content of the study and their rights, the participants received an informed consent form based on the Erasmus School of History, Culture and Communication's (ESHCC) template (Nariman & Domingus, 2016) and were verbally informed at the start of the interview. A copy of the unsigned consent form can be found in Appendix A. Furthermore, this study follows six other key criteria for ethically acceptable research, namely:

13

avoiding deception, guaranteeing and protecting privacy, correct analysis and interpretation of data, respect for participants as individuals, participant's well-being must be respected and participant's advantages and burdens should be reasonable (Flick, 2007).

In April and May 2022, 11 interviews were conducted with Dutch web developers. An overview of the participants' characteristics can be found in Appendix C. The interviews lasted 60 to 90 minutes and were all conducted using the video call application Zoom. Each interview was conducted in real-time, with the audio of each interview being recorded for transcribing purposes. All interviews were carried out in either Dutch or English (6 Dutch, 5 English). The male-female distribution is in accordance with the aforementioned figures from CBS (2011), with 10 male participants and 1 female participant. The interviewees were 26 to 44 years old (with a mean of 33.3). To protect their identities, each participant and traceable organizations mentioned were assigned a pseudonym.

3.3 Operationalization

To illustrate how practical choices were made and how data was carefully gathered to respond to the topic under study, this section will discuss the operationalization of this research. Operationalization is the transformation of abstract ideas into concrete measurements (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). The theoretical insights presented in the last chapter served as the foundation for the interview guide for the interviews. The sub sections on strategy, ethics, and web development provide the core concepts of the interview guide. On the basis of the discoveries from the theoretical chapter, each concept was further expanded using probes (see Table 3.3). First, questions on strategy helped explore how participants view strategy, both in general and in more company-specific terms. In addition, the topic of ethics helps understand how web developers view ethical behaviour, as well as the role of ethics in their organization. Finally, the last topic focused on their daily work and how strategy and ethics play a role in it. This variety of questions helped gain a better understanding of how web developers see the relationship between business strategy and business ethics. The interview guide served as the starting point for the data gathering process, and is subsequently improved based on information obtained from the interviews. The entire interview guide can be found in Appendix B.

Table 3.3. Operationalization of concepts.			
Concept	Sub-theme	Example questions	
Strategy	Definition	What is strategy to you?	
		What is not strategy?	

	Business strategy	How would you describe your organization's strategy?
		How would you describe strategy forming processes in your organization?
		How does your organization's strategy integrate in your everyday work?
	Challenges	Are there challenges for integrating strategy in your everyday work?
		What advice would you give other organizations about implementing strategy into IT departments?
Ethics	Definition	How would you describe ethical behaviour in your own words?
		What kind of actions would you consider unethical?
	Deciding on ethics	How do you know if something is ethical or unethical?
	Business ethics	How would you describe your organization's view on ethics?
		What is, in your opinion, the relevance of ethical behavior for your own work?
	Challenges	Are there challenges for acting ethical in your everyday work?
		What is the best way to integrate ethics into your everyday work?
Web development	User centred design	Can you explain who is, in your opinion, the most important, the client or the end user?
		Are there any challenges for acting in the client's or end user's best interest?
	Guidelines	Are there any general standards or agreements in the industry about this?
		How do you feel about privacy measurements(/guidelines) in website/software development?
	Unethical web development	How would you describe dark patterns in your own words?
		How do you feel about implementation of dark patterns in website/software development?

3.4 Data analysis

The main purpose of this research is to discover patterns in web developers' views on the bond between business strategy and business ethics. For this, recorded interviews were transcribed first, after which coding started using data analysis software ATLAS.ti (2022). Because thematic analysis helps identify, analyse and report patterns in data (Braun & Clarke, 2006), it was used for data analysis. Along the way, insights gained from the interviews and the earlier mentioned theoretical framework further shaped this process.

Thematic analysis consists of six phases which are clearly outlined by Braun and Clarke (2006): familiarizing with the data (1), creating preliminary codes (2), looking for themes (3), reviewing the found themes (4), defining and labelling the themes (5) and creating the report (6). The process starts in the first phase with immersing in the data and recording preliminary analytical insights. In the second phase, the first codes are created from the data. Codes are used to indicate the most basic part of the data that may be interpreted in a meaningful way in relation to the phenomena under study (Boyatzis, 1998; Braun & Clarke, 2006). The process continues with the third phase, in which similar codes are grouped into overarching themes. In addition, more complicated codes are allowed to become themes directly. Next, in the fourth phase, all codes and themes are reviewed to check whether they still fit with their corresponding data. Themes are usually further refined at this point. Following the refinement phase, themes' descriptions are created, including their primary concept and relation to other themes and the research question. At last, phase six includes a final analysis and focuses on writing everything up.

Themes from the gathered data can be formed both inductively and deductively (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This research used both inductive and deductive approaches to analyse the data. An inductive approach is common in qualitative research, as "patterns, categories and themes" are built from the bottom up by arranging the data into more and more abstract units (Cresswell & Cresswell, 2018, p. 257). Additionally, with the deductive approach, themes can emerge from literature (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Additionally, there is another deductive process happening. After the creation of themes, data linked to the created themes was reviewed to assess whether further evidence can be gathered to support the theme or whether more information is required (Cresswell & Cresswell, 2018).

3.5 Quality criteria

While conducting semi-structured interviews and doing thematic analysis, the researcher plays a significant role. When conducting interviews, the researcher's own conception of importance determines the direction of the in-depth questions (Brennen, 2017). In addition, in thematic analysis, the researcher's opinion of what is relevant is used to identify codes and themes. Because of this, the research's credibility should always be kept in mind. This research will use Silverman's (2014) tools to improve its reliability and validity.

3.5.1 Reliability and validity

Only when the standards of validity and reliability are adhered to can qualitative research become interesting (Bartunek et al., 2006; Cresswell & Cresswell, 2018). Reliability, in contrast to validity, is evaluated using internal criteria. It relates to the research method's consistency and stability, as well as the study's trustworthiness (Silverman, 2014). This research aims for a high standard of reliability by utilizing the same sample criteria for all participants, utilizing the same interview guide for all interviews and by discussing, and applying, the study methodology and data analysis in a clear and consistent manner.

Sliverman (2014) proposes five tools to validate qualitative research: "analytic induction, the constant comparative method, deviant-case analysis, comprehensive data treatment and using appropriate tabulations" (p. 105). First, analytic induction helps generate and test hypotheses "grounded" (Silverman, 2014, p. 95) in the data. In qualitative research, this helps recognise a phenomenon and create a preliminary hypothesis. Qualitative research is made up of several data collecting and analysis cycles. The constant comparative method constantly compares the results of each new cycle to the results of the preceding cycle. This helps to describe the found variation within a given phenomenon (Boeije, 2010). The third tool focuses on deviant cases: cases that do not align with the expectation. When an inconsistent or deviant case is discovered, the phenomenon under study's description should be altered to exclude the case, or the hypothesis should be reformulated (Hammersley & Atkinson, 2007). Comprehensive data treatment focuses on analysing the data till all relevant data has been accounted for. This will ensure a result is a generalization that can be as accurate "as a statistical correlation" (Silverman, 2014, p. 100). Finally, using appropriate tabulations will improve validity by assisting in developing an understanding of the variation in the data and detecting the prevalence of specific results.

3.5.2 Ethical considerations

In addition to adhering the reliability and validity standards researchers must be aware of any ethical difficulties that may occur throughout their research as research entails gathering data from individuals and about individuals (Berg, 2001; Punch, 2005). There are multiple areas of focus when it comes to qualitative research. To begin with, interviewers should be aware of the possible imbalance in the "power relations" between participants and the interviewers (Brennen, 2017, p. 31). To protect the participants, researchers should create a relationship of trust with them, ensure the integrity of the research, act honestly and fair, prevent misconduct and impropriety that might reflect negatively on their companies and adapt to new difficult situations (Israel & Hay, 2006; Kvale,

17

1994). There must be no misrepresentation of "the scope, intention, goals, or any other aspect of a qualitative study" (Brennen, 2017, p. 31). Furthermore, when it comes to the obtained data, researchers should be aware of any potential ethical concerns that may arise from the usage of personal information (Brennen, 2017).

4. Results

In order to answer the research question "How do Dutch web developers manage tensions between business strategy and business ethics?", a total of 11 in-depth interviews with web developers in the Netherlands were conducted. The responses given in the interviews, as well as the themes found through thematic analysis, are the focus of this chapter. Studying this data, three themes emerged, which will be covered throughout this chapter. First, *decisions based on* feelings were observed, illustrating how participants use their personal feelings in decision-making when it comes to ethics, privacy and strategy. The second theme that was observed, *unfamiliarity*, shows the unawareness of the interviewees about guidelines, their company's strategy and ethics in web development. The final theme that came out of the thematic analysis is that of *design choices*. This last theme touches upon user-centred design, unethical design and contradicting design choices.

4.1 Decisions based on feelings

The first theme that emerged from analysing the data is that of decisions based on feelings. Throughout the interviews, it became clear that all participants use their own personal feelings in decision-making in various aspects of their jobs. First, interviewees' feeling-based decision-making on ethical issues will be discussed, followed by privacy and strategical issues.

4.1.1 Ethical decisions based on feelings

The participants revealed that they mainly decide what they find ethical or unethical based on their own feelings. For example, 30-year-old Bart answered to a question on how he decides what is ethical and what is unethical the following: "Yeah, that's a, yeah, kind of your feeling, I guess.". Asking further how this takes shape, Bart continued: "Your moral compass somewhat indicating that, something you can and cannot do.". Using one's moral compass is also something 31-year-old Thijs does: "Yes, no one knows [when something is ethical or unethical]. But I have a sort of my own internal compass.". It thus makes sense for the participants to use their own point of view, or common sense, as a guidance on how to deal with ethical issues, in the absence of clear guiding rules.

Participants described that they not only looked within themselves when deciding on ethical issues, but also included a possible situational view of others. For instance, 31-year-old Sjors explains his ethical decision-making:

Yes, I think that is very much based on good feeling, assumptions and how would I deal with it myself if it happened to me? Well, now I'm not necessarily a very good guide myself, because I'm quite aware of those [unethical] techniques, even if I do fall for them. Let's be honest. But we have done a campaign on Instagram before and thought: "Yeah, what they're selling, as if it's ecological", you know. It's a sustainable brand, that's promoted, and it's actually from Thailand. So maybe a sustainable product, but you don't know what kind of factory it was. Yes, then I think: "Yes, it may be sustainable, but that material...". That was a moment when I thought: "What am I doing now?"

So, in Sjors' case, despite that he has his doubts about his own objectivity, he projects ethical issues on himself. By doing so, he moves the ethical issues towards an issue of feeling. He further dissects the issue to understand that he does not feel good about it, making him conclude it is an unethical issue. Sjors is not the only interviewee that mentions this technique. 44-year-old Matthijs refers to it as well: "I think I mainly look at how I would react to it myself.". Mark (27 years old), on the other hand, does not project the situation on himself, but bases his ethical decision directly on the reactions of the people involved: "Mostly I can see through people if I say something to them. You can see through their reaction, how they behave. Yeah, if you said something wrong, that can be unethical.". Jurgen, who is 37 years old, has a slightly different approach as well:

I would find something unethical on my own behaviour, that would be something that I would never allow someone to do to me. And, so everything. Yeah, it sounds a bit neurotic, but everything I do, I'm thinking, like, how would I like this? How would I appreciate this approach? How would I like it if someone talked to me like this? How would I like it if someone wrote an email like this to me? And that's, as we are talking about it, that's like a huge part of what I think about in my communication. And since that's the start of everything I do in communication, I don't really have like ethical issues or something. Because I'm always thinking like: "Oh, that's not how I would like it. Let's keep it down.".

Instead of only projecting an ethical issue on himself, Jurgen also turns the situation around. By exploring the situation as the subject, he uses his feelings to form his ethical viewpoint. That viewpoint is then used to shape its way of communicating. As a result, Jurgen indicates that he does not experience ethical issues.

Participants not only shared how they use their feelings when it comes to ethical issues, but they mentioned reasons for it as well. For instance, Erik (38 years old) said: "The thing with ethics, as you probably know, is that it's subjectional. So, what we think is right, someone else may think is wrong. So, there's always a bit of interpretation there.". We can deduct from this that Erik links ethics to someone's own point of view. 31-year-old Pieter agrees with this: "Yeah, the issue there would be common sense, I would say. Which is obviously also the issue, because ethical or not, it is also based on culture and the way you were raised, nurturing.". Pieter, like other participants mentioned earlier, bases ethical decision-making on common sense. In addition, he understands that there could be different understandings of that common sense, concluding that something that he feels is ethical, someone else might find unethical. This difficulty is framed by Matthijs to make it more practical: "[...] I think the most important thing is to do what makes you feel good.".

4.1.2 Privacy decisions based on feelings

Ethical decisions were not the only decisions participants fell back on their feelings for. When it came to privacy-related decision-making, interviewees showed that their feelings had taken a prominent part in the decision-making process. Erik demonstrates this when talking about privacy guidelines:

I think data should be owned by the people that use the software instead of the people that make the software. I'm very a vocal advocate of privacy. I do not want to be tracked. I do not want to be shown products I just bought, because I might be interested in them. Or I don't want a very thorough examination of what I do online or what I do with a program. Unless I've given my absolute permission and not being taken hostage. For example, everything you use from Google and Facebook is impossible to use without giving your data. And there are alternatives, but not for a lot of people, because they're expensive. So basically, it means that a lot of people are taken hostage by given free products, by Google or Facebook or whatever and 'can't live without them', because it's so ingrained in our society and that most people don't even know what it costs them. So, yeah, a strong vocal supporter of privacy here.

This shows how privacy is important to the participants, because they want to own their own data. Erik names two, in his opinion, critical points about privacy not being applied properly: collecting too much data and unnecessary tracking. Erik continued on the duality of web developers and privacy:

Well, for me, what I've noticed is that the people working in web development are basically the ones that have all the trackers off and have Ghostly and Little Snitch and name them all. So for everyone working in web development, I'd say don't do it to others what you won't do to yourself. Erik's remark shows that, although web developers seem to understand the effects some changes have on privacy, they still continue with their implementation, while protecting themselves from similar implementations. From his advice we can conclude that Erik's privacy decisions in his daily work originate from his feeling and view on privacy. In addition, Jurgen also bases his privacy decisions on his strong feelings on privacy: "So I'm pretty anal of where I leave my data. [...] where I can, I try to limit it as much as much as I can. So, I'm very strong on privacy.".

Despite most participants having an opinion about implementing privacy in a user-friendly way, there were others who themselves had fewer problems with it. When talking about holding on to form data, Sjors says:

I have to say, I feel pretty bad about doing that. Look, the data is not abused, of course, let's put that first. And it is only kept longer than necessary. And we know that you have visited the site, so we actually know commercially what you are interested in. Yes, I personally don't have much of a problem with that.

Here Sjors talks himself up, despite he does not like the idea. Additionally, he talks about tracking on websites, of which he thinks it is not a big issue. As he is talking about websites his organization creates, his feelings influence his decisions on implementing website trackers or not. Thus, showing another example of interviewees using feelings to decide when it comes to privacy issues.

4.1.3 Strategical decisions based on feelings

The third moment that emerged about feelings influencing decision-making is related to strategy. This is especially noticeable among participants of whose managing was part of their jobs. For example, Erik who is part of the management team, explains what is at the basis of the company's guidelines: "So, our own values, our own ethics, as it were, form what the guidelines are for the company.". This illustrates that Erik's company rules and guidelines are based on his own feelings.

Another moment that shows strategic choices based on feelings has its origin in feelings about working on projects for other companies. When discussing a work project Erik describes when he would stop working with an unethical agency:

When it's something we can control. And the agency is not something we can control in the sense that it's the agency the client uses in which we have no say. And in what we do have a

22

say is the guidelines we adhere. So, in this case we'll make a choice in doing what we think is the right thing, instead of choosing the agency which is not an option right now.

This illustrates an unpleasant situation for Erik. Some third-party act in a way of which Erik does not feel comfortable with. Despite he cannot let the third-party go, he explains that his company makes a choice on how to handle the situation based on their feeling. In this way the company's strategy is again controlled by feelings. However, Erik does mention that it is not completely based on feelings:

Yes. Basically, when we get clients that cost us more pain than enjoyment, or when we notice that a group isn't functioning as it should, or it's basically a high empathy group. And we are as well, so it's not all down to feeling, but feeling does play a big part of it.

Despite the above acknowledgement of feeling playing a big part in strategy is not something all participants mentioned, it clearly shows that feeling affects several areas of business operations.

4.2 Unfamiliarity

The second theme that emerged out of the analysed data is that of unfamiliarity. During the interviews, it became noticeable that a significant proportion of web developers are unaware of guidelines, their company's strategy, or the role of ethics in their work.

4.2.1 Unfamiliarity with guidelines

One of the returning elements that surfaced in the interviews is that of the unfamiliarity of guidelines. The European privacy guideline The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) (European Commission, n.d.) was mentioned by a few participants, and the importance of guidelines was noted: "It's good that there are always guidelines, of course." (Matthijs) and "It's really important" (Mark). However, most of the participants had no knowledge of guidelines in their field of expertise. For example, Jurgen responded with "Not really, to be honest. Not really, no. No." when asked about ethical guidelines in the industry. Erik is not familiar with ethical standards as well: "I don't know if there their standard agreements.".

Additionally, participants mentioned why they are unfamiliar with any guidelines in the industry. Bart: "No, no. There will undoubtedly be. I do not doubt that. There are guidelines for everything, but I never looked them up.". Sjors explains further: "So no, I don't necessarily know all about the regulations. I'm not the one who would want to delve into that, because that sort of thing is not my area of interest, so to speak.". Mark, on the other hand, is not familiar with ethical

guidelines because he understands ethical choices are linked to personal viewpoints: "Um, no, I don't think so [that there are ethical guidelines]. I think it's mostly a personal thing". 38-year-old Tim talks about it as well:

In youth care, you have the NEN norms that you must comply with. It is very extensive and very specified. In commercial development, it is much less present. There, we mainly look at the GDPR and how to implement it correctly, so that our clients comply with it.

This shows that there is a difference in the industry when it comes to usage, and knowledge, of ethical guidelines. Tim explains here that there is a contrast between commercial and non-commercial organisations in implementing guidelines.

When it comes to ethical guidelines, some of the respondent's companies have put something on paper for this. However, a sufficient part of the interviewees did not have such guidelines to fall back on at their work. Thijs mentions that there is nothing like that written down: "[My company] doesn't have anything on paper for that at all.", while Bart also has no ethical guidelines on paper at his work: "I don't have a manual for that.".

4.2.2 Unfamiliarity with company strategy

The second unfamiliarity that the participants described is that of their company's strategy. When asked about strategy Jurgen describes his company's strategy as unclear: "And I can immediately say that we are not a company that has a clear strategy.". A possible reason for this could be the short time an employee has been with the company, as explained by Matthijs when asked about business strategy: "That is a difficult one. I actually find that a very difficult question to ask. Because I still work there for a fairly short time.". Another reason is given by Jurgen: "Not that I'm aware of. Maybe business-wise, but since I work more or less with the website stuff and the marketing stuff there's not a real marketing strategy right now or a commercial strategy.". This implies different applied strategies in a company, and employees are only familiar with strategies that are practised in their own department.

4.2.3 Unfamiliarity with ethics in web development

The last unfamiliarity that emerged out of the data is that of being unfamiliar with ethics in web development. Although almost all participants have experience with designing user interfaces and flows, a significant part of them was not familiar with the unethical side of user manipulation. When asked to describe the concept of dark patterns, multiple interviewees responded that they did not know the concept: "No, not really. Maybe can explain it to me?" (Jurgen). Others, like Matthijs, are familiar with the term, but do not have an understanding of it: "I have heard of it, but I don't really know what it is, no.". When asked for a definition, Matthijs continued: "Dark patterns, yes, then I assume that that is something with dark, but with criminal, yes, acts on the web. That's how I interpret it, but I wouldn't know.". He was not the only one who had a different understanding of the concept, as Pieter says:

I think it's a behaviour that has sneaked into you or your organization or to your team, which you are not fundamentally aware of. However, if someone has a mirror and shows you your own behaviour from a distance, you may draw the conclusion that it's not in the best interest of others, and that it may be even unethical behaviour, for instance.

While Pieter mentions here that dark patterns can be not in the best interest of others, he sees them mostly as something that employees are unaware of and happens in a company.

4.3 Design choices

The third and final theme that emerged from analysing the data is that of design choices. In their daily work, web developers are constantly required to make decisions when it comes to design. This section will start with the findings on design choices related to the end user, followed by design choices based on ethics and finally, contradicting design choices.

4.3.1 User-centred design

When it comes to the focus of their end product, all participants mentioned the importance of the end user. Although the client is the one that brings in the money, the end product is created for the end user. Mark arguments why user centred design is of importance:

Mostly because they are using the product daily. And the client is mostly only the person who is using to the application. So, the end user gives also the best feedback. If it doesn't work for them, they're not going to use it. So, you sold a product that they're not going to use. So, it's for a company a reason to get rid of you. So, I think the [end] user is the most important factor for developing new features and things like that.

Mark explains here that the end user is of great importance to the client, as there is no benefit for the client when the end users do not use the end product. Other participants agree with this, for instance Thijs: "If the end user doesn't use it, it's no use to the client either." and Matthijs: "Because [the end user] has to buy the product or service. And it's important that you can convince the client of how you think he can best achieve his goal. Through the right strategy. To come back to that.". This shows that although the participants see greater importance in the end user, they want to get the client on board with this approach, to achieve strategical success. Focussing on the end user is the only option according to Bart: "... look in the end if you make the end user happy then you can make the client happy too. But not the other way round [...] then you've got a problem.".

To achieve this, interviewees mentioned various things. First, they have to get the client to understand their approach. Sjors mentions how he does this: "Well, I always start by reformulating the client's question from the end user's point of view. Of course, it is then framed in the client's favour". Jurgen mentions that too much of the clients' influence can result in an unwanted outcome: "[...] because if I look at the stuff that we build, eventually complains that the end user has will fall back to us.". Additionally, Mark shares that focussing on the users influences his design: "But also you try to make it as friendly as possible. So, you are going to try to make it as clean as possible and as user friendly as possible.".

4.3.2 Design choices based on ethics

The second focus of the design choices of the participants is related to ethics. Due to all participants working with changing projects, sometimes they need to make decisions that spark some internal ethical issue. Thijs, for instance, talks about a project that made him question his involvement:

We did have a project here once [...] where they were looking for: "How can we develop a dashboard so that we can deplete the oil fields even further?", you know. So that's more general, so to speak. Contributing to a product that actually has some unethical impact. [...] I did say no to that project.

This demonstrates Thijs' choice to not work on an unethical project. Participants' ethical decisions are often in line with that of their company: "For example fur, if a company sells fur, yes, I wouldn't want to work for that. But I have a feeling that our company, that my company, is not going to do [such projects] either." (Matthijs). It does not only stay with assumptions. Erik, for instance, looks at it from a management perspective: "If we feel as a company that indeed the project is unethical, then we'll stop and we'll stand by the employee either way. But sometimes it means another employee picks up the project [...]". It is thus not always possible for a company to turn down a

project. However, it is not always easy for the company to turn down a project. When another colleague will work on the project, other problems may arise as well. Thijs:

And then they said yes to that company, but then at a certain point it came down to hosting a certain workshop, which is something I do a lot, and that a certain knowledge was lacking to do that properly. And then it was like: "Oh, yes, but Thijs, can't you just take a look?" And then I thought: "Yes, I'm happy to do that for that colleague, because I'm happy to share my knowledge". But then when you know what it's used for, then you think: "Shit!". And then you work for the same company. So of course, I shared my knowledge, but then we all realised: we actually have to agree across the board on whether we're going to work for something or not. Because otherwise there is no point.

This illustrates that the ethical decisions of a single employee can affect the whole company (and the other way around). Although Thijs did not want to work on it, the company still decided to take on the project and assigned another team member to it. However, due to requiring his expertise Thijs later still got to get involved.

The interviewees had various arguments for when they make ethical design decisions. Pieter mentioned that designs should not take advantage of the user: "I think it's it should be respectful and also, I think it should not exploit me as an individual. I think that's where I draw the line.". In addition, Thijs discussed the ethical issue of accessibility:

And in web development, that's what accessibility is all about: that you don't live up to it. That people who can't see can't use a page. Or not using non-binary pronouns in a form. I think it's easy to be unethical in web development.

This shows that ethics is at the heart of user-centred design. Next to the users' needs, their values are respected by the participants. However, it is not only the values of the end users that should be respected. Thijs also raises the issue of digital sustainability: "And also digital sustainability, so making sure your images are not too big and that you use fewer images, or use more dark tones.". Making design choices that result in a lighter website or app is beneficial to environmental sustainability.

4.3.3 Contradicting choices

The third thing about design choices that emerged from analysing the data is that of contradictions in design choices. When it comes to ethics in web development, the interviewees mentioned experiencing difficulties with standing their ground. Thijs for instance talks about this: "But then at a certain point it was like: 'Can we actually say no?'. Because we all work in a certain company, we also have to achieve a certain turnover.". That there is not always a clear solution for such cases is explained by Sjors in his example:

Mmm yes, we have had requests for an assignment, yes, drop shipping, things like that. And yes, I also consciously said no to those right away. On the one hand, because they are clients who you don't really want to have anything to do with, in terms of personality - I'm not saying it right - but more because they are clients who are all about the quick money. Yes, then you also make ethical choices to earn quick money, while what you are doing is actually indirectly more of a scam. You sell a product as if it's ready to go and you disguise the fact that the delivery time is five weeks, or seven weeks. It has also been an ethical mission that you thought: "We're not going to take this on". But I have to be honest and say that I also had to convince my employer at the time and then the decision was made to simply put the amount so high that we said: "Well, if he wants it, then for this amount", and then we'll do it, fine. But that was not his choice.

This shows that even though Sjors thought of the project as unethical, it could still have been accepted. Instead of rejecting the potential client and assignment, the company decided to ask for a much higher rate than normal. Therefore, leaving the door open for working on unethical projects. Erik argues why it is not always an easy decision to be made:

There is always nuance to that, I think, because there's bills to be paid. You have the luxury of only thinking about the end user when you're not the one responsible for feeding families or for the salaries of families that need to be fed.

The above illustrates the potential difficulty web developers and their companies might experience. Although all participants did not experience any problems with a shortage of work at this moment, when it does happen, unethical projects are less likely to be rejected. In this sense the ethical side of web development is linked to the income of web developers. However, money is not the only influence that leaves room for contradictions. Other contradictions can be found when looking at privacy. Although web developers do know about ethical approaches in web development, they are still not always used. Pieter described the development of applications that could have privacy issues, despite knowing about ethical frameworks: "So privacy by design, privacy by default as well. Such things are really important because we have been making applications that do exactly the opposite.". In addition, most interviewees made remarks about using ad and tracking blockers. Nevertheless, they continue to work on advertisements and implementing trackers: "Yeah, for websites it's customary to have some form of analytics. Which I sort of get, believe in, I believe in the power of data and making decisions through data, I'm just not a fan of how they get the data." (Erik) and "But, if you get a cookie notification, always ignore it, always block it." (Sjors).

Finally, contradicting design choices emerged that related to strategy. When talking about online marketing campaigns for their products, Jurgen describes the fast-changing, and contradicting, choices in strategy:

And on our side, it's more the soup of the day. So: "Oh today it's glass fibre. I have a feeling, a good feeling about glass fibre. Let's promote glass fibre." But, when we then see, for instance, a huge glass fibre campaign of a competitor, that maybe costs a few million euros, this idea immediately gets thrown out of the window. "Oh no, oh no, it's not needed." So, it's not that we strategize our guerrilla tactics let's say. It's really how the wind is blowing that day.

Contradictions in thoughts and choices are quite common when it comes to online marketing campaigns, as Sjors mentions an example as well:

But, we have done a campaign on Instagram before and you thought: "Yeah, what they're selling, as if it's ecological.", you know. It's a sustainable brand, that's promoted, and it's actually from Thailand. So maybe a sustainable product, but you don't know what kind of factory it was. Yes, then I think: "Yes, it may be sustainable, but that material...". That was a moment when I thought: "What am I doing now?" Anyway, that campaign wasn't necessarily very successful either. It was also a kind of: well look, beautiful, that's also nice for my own peace of mind.

In the above example Sjors describes an online campaign of which he questioned the ethical side. Despite doubting the client's product promises, the campaign was made and run online. It was only after, when the campaign turned out to be unsuccessful, that Sjors felt that the unethical project was rectified.

5. Discussion

The discussion chapter will evaluate the findings of this study by comparing them in light of prior research. After comparing the findings with the literature, the conducted research will be assessed. The chapter will continue by looking at the implications for practice, before it reviews the limitations of the research and ends with an advice on further research.

5.1 Comparison with the literature

With the results from this research in mind (see Table 5.1 for an overview), how do they relate to literature? In the following section each found theme will be compared with previously established literature.

Table 5.1. Main findings		
Theme	Sub-theme	Findings
Decisions based on feelings	Ethical decisions based on feelings	Web developers use own point of view, or common sense, as a guidance on how to deal with ethical issues
		Web developers project ethical issues on themselves
		Web developers shape their understanding of ethical issues based on the reactions of others
		Ethics can be different to someone else
	Privacy decisions based on feelings	Web developers believe that users should own their own data
		Web developers do not want to collect too much data
		Web developers do not want to track unnecessary
		Web developers continue with less positive privacy implementations when they protect themselves against it
		Web developers create privacy adoption based on their own preferences
		Web developers think they are not that much of an influence when it comes to privacy
	Strategical decisions based on feelings	Company rules are based on feelings
		Company direction and/or situational handling is based on feelings

		Feelings affect business operations
		Business strategy and ethics overlap
Unfamiliarity	Unfamiliarity with guidelines	Web developers have knowledge of GDPR due to new law
		Web developers are not familiar with ethical standards in the industry
		Web developers are not familiar with guidelines due to lack of interest
		There are no ethical guidelines created by the companies
	Unfamiliarity with company strategy	Their company's strategy is unclear to web developers
		The company strategy is unclear due to short time with the company
		The company strategy is unclear because there are different strategies for different departments
		The company strategy is unclear due to working in a different department than marketing
	Unfamiliarity with ethics in web development	Web developers are unfamiliar with the unethical side of user manipulation
		Web developers are unfamiliar with dark patterns
Design choices	User centred design	End user of great importance to the client
		Product should be created for the end user as they are the ones using it
		The client should be convinced of the end users' importance
	Design choices based on ethics	It is not always possible to turn down unethical projects
		Management follows employee decisions about not working with unethical projects or clients
		Web developers do not want to exploit the user
		Web developers do not want to work with unethical projects or clients
		Web products should be accessible for everyone
		Web products should be environmental sustainability
	Contradicting choices	Privacy by design not used by web developers
		The ethical side of web development is linked to income
		Web developers are familiar with good privacy measurements, but they are not using them

Web developers experience fast, contradicting changes in strategy
Web developers find it difficult to stand their ground when it comes to ethics
Web developers implement tracking, but block it by default themselves

5.1.1 Decisions based on feelings

The first theme that emerged from the data consists of three sub-themes: ethical decisions based on feelings, privacy decisions based on feelings and strategical decisions based on feelings.

5.1.1.1 Ethical decisions based on feelings

The sub-theme of ethical decisions based on feelings consisted of a few findings. To begin with, web developers use their own point of view, or common sense, as a guidance on how to deal with work-related ethical issues. This is mostly in line with the literature. When looking at product quality in web development, it is generally based on the instinct, the common sense and the skills of the developer (Conte et al., 2007). This is because ethical choices arise from challenges that cannot be resolved beforehand to by rules (Clegg et al., 2007). In other words, since ethical issues occur in a variety of circumstances and situations, there is no one-size-fits-all solution (Carter et al., 2007). However, there is some critique as well. The fundamental nature of ethical dilemmas, according to Munro (2016), is that they come from existing standards, which can demand conflicting things of an individual. Knowing that things might be good or bad is what ethics entails. It does not, however, imply understanding which things are good and which things are bad (Bauman & Tester, 2001).

In addition, two other findings are related to the sensemaking of ethical issues. Web developers were found to project ethical issues on themselves and look at other people's reactions to shape their understanding of ethical issues. In order to improve one's coping of ethics it is necessary to be self-critical (Clegg et al., 2007). According to Clegg et al. this may be achieved through open conversation and the creation of ethical environments where such topics can be explored. When it comes to web design, Friedman et al. (2013) describe that collecting values that matter to the web developer will guide the creation of their design. This can be viewed as being in compliance with web developers projecting ethical issues on themselves when deciding on ethical issues. Clegg et al. (2007) explain that ethics is considered a social phenomenon, of which individuals rely on "to define and defend who they are" (p. 115).

Finally, web developers understand that because feelings play a role in decision-making when it comes to ethics, ethics could be understood differently by other people. Clegg et al. (2007)

acknowledge this struggle, as they mention that ethics are constantly up for debate. They also highlight that there are theories, based on theoretical normativism, that claim that an observer may assess whether or not someone's or something's actions are ethical. Kant (2004), for instance, devised at an early stage a method for determining whether or not a certain action is ethical. However, his method was criticised as well (Clegg et al., 2007).

5.1.1.2 Privacy decisions based on feelings

In the second sub-theme of privacy decisions based on feelings, the findings were a bit less overlapping with the literature. The findings showed that web developers prefer to not collect too much data on users. When talking about dark patterns, Bösch et al. (2016) name something related to this: shadow user profiles. Shadow user profiles are records on individuals that do not use the service to which the records in question are used. That this principle is being named a dark pattern can be seen as an example of data being collected too much. Another finding in this sub-theme is that web developers continue with less positive privacy implementations, while they are familiar with the issues and protect themselves against those implementations. A corresponding dark pattern is that of bad defaults (Bösch et al., 2016). In a web service or application that has bad defaults, the default settings could result in an increase in unknowingly shared personal information.

The other emerged findings of privacy decisions based on feelings are more in relation to the own preference of the web developer and their influence. To begin with, due to the lack of using privacy guidelines as found in the second theme, web developers mainly base their privacy adoption on their own preferences. The relevance of cognitive information processing for privacy issues has been demonstrated in previous studies (e.g., Angst & Argarwal, 2009; Kobsa et al., 2016; Lowry et al., 2012). In addition, the practice of ethics, which is part of privacy decision-making (Mathur et al., 2021), connects "subjectivity and discourse" (Clegg et al., 2007, p. 115). This supports the finding of web developers think about their own privacy preferences and apply them in their work. However, literature shows us that there are well-established solutions when it comes to privacy, namely privacy patterns (Doty & Gupta, 2013; Hoepman, 2014). Privacy patterns refer to reusable solutions for often arising privacy problems (Bösch et al., 2016). While web developers may create reusable solutions for their work-related privacy issues, the reusable solutions from privacy patterns contradict with the findings of this study, as they are not based on the preferences of the web developer. Web developers furthermore think that they are not that much of an influence when it comes to privacy decisions. However, this contradicts with the influence a web developer has according to Mathur et al. (2021). They describe that designers do have a significant influence, and additionally, their design decisions may potentially have unintended repercussions.

33

5.1.1.3 Strategical decisions based on feelings

The final sub-theme of decisions based on feelings is that of strategical decisions based on feelings. Various findings surfaced. First, this research showed that the company rules of web developers were sometimes based on feelings. This is in line with the field of SAP, because strategy is something individuals do rather than something a company has (Whittington, 2006). Furthermore, nowadays top-down strategic planning, which is based on predetermined assumptions, must frequently make way for more situational alternatives, in which strategy evolves through local adjustments and responses (Horst et al., 2019). Another finding that emerged is that web developers' company direction and situational handling are often based on feelings. This contradicts the suggestion that by combining business strategy and efficiently deploying IT, organizations with a well-planned IT strategy may boost their overall competitiveness (Yeh et al., 2012). On the other hand, dealing with complexity and differentiating crucial impacts from those that are merely significant, as well as achieving a balanced conclusion, all while dealing with ambiguity and incomplete knowledge, is the essence of strategy (Horst, 2020).

Another finding is that of feelings affecting business operations. The influence that feelings have on strategy can also be found in the literature. Jarzabkowski et al. (2021) mention that strategy is widely defined as a situational, socially performed action. Additionally, strategic decision-making entails moral decision-making and consideration of many options (Maitlis & Christianson, 2014). Decision-making in its turn entails interpreting and adapting norms and concepts to local conditions. This implies that there is a role for feelings in strategy, as they are situational, socially performed and adapted to norms.

Finally, the last finding in this sub-theme is that strategy and ethics overlap. Strategy entails not just "the implementation of plans, tools, decisions, and actions" that have significant implications for the company's future performance (Horst, 2020, p. 31). In addition, strategy is as well a practice with inherent ethical responsibility towards individuals, companies, and society. Therefore, ethics and strategy are linked to each other (Freeman & Gilbert, 1988). However, as Horst (2020) mentions, the concept of strategy and ethics as intertwined components of the same practice is currently not well established.

5.1.2 Unfamiliarity

The data revealed a second theme, that of unfamiliarity, which is divided into three subthemes: unfamiliarity with guidelines, unfamiliarity with company strategy and unfamiliarity with ethics in web development.

5.1.2.1 Unfamiliarity with guidelines

The first finding, that web developers are not familiar with ethical standards in the industry, contradicts mostly with the literature. While web developers are familiar with the GDPR standard due to legal requirements, they are not familiar with other standards despite regulations are being made (e.g., Forbrukerrådet, 2018; Laboratoire d'innovation numérique de la CNIL, 2019). Alonso-Virgós et al. (2019) furthermore mention that there are guidelines that are commonly used. Additionally, when it comes to UX guidelines, various international standards are named. For instance, ISO 9126 and ISO 25010 consider usability to be one of the most important aspects of software quality (Alonso-Virgós et al., 2019; Conte et al., 2007). Despite a large number of ethical guidelines available, it is because of this amount that inconsistency and confusion arise (Floridi, 2019). One of the reasons web developers gave for being unfamiliar with guidelines is that they had no interest in looking into it. While there are no direct contradictions mentioned in the literature, a lot has changed for web developers over time. Where in 2008 web developers were mainly focused on HTML, CSS and some backend coding, their work has become more and more complex over the years that followed (Connolly, 2019).

Next to unfamiliarity with commonly used guidelines in the industry, web developers were also unaware of any ethical guidelines created by their companies. This is in direct opposition to what has been published in the literature. The creation and application of ethical guidelines through values statements and codes of conduct are still largely regarded empirically as the most usual formal action done by companies to cope with ethical challenges (Clegg et al., 2007). Codes of conducts are created by companies to justify their actions (Brunsson & Jacobsson, 2002).

5.1.2.2 Unfamiliarity with company strategy

When it comes to the sub-theme of unfamiliarity with company strategy the literature is more divided. Web developers are mostly not familiar with the strategy of their company. This seems to be correct, as very few companies have a meaningful strategic plan for a successful future of the company or determining the path they want to take (Tracy, 2015). Furthermore, when it comes to business-level strategy, it is mainly the area of the managers (Olson et al., 2021; Whittington, 2006). Vaara and Whittington (2012) describe that middle managers still have a critical role in their companies as strategy "creators, interpreters and communicators" (p. 308). Moreover, below the management levels, Mantere (2005) reports a regularly unwanted desire for increased strategic participation. With most web developers not having management roles, this is in line with the findings of this study. However, other sounds are heard as well. Whittington (2006) argues that a

company always "has a strategy of some kind or other" (p. 613). Whittington furthermore names strategy practitioners as those who create, shape, and execute strategies. Strategy practitioners aren't only top executives whose work revolves around strategy, lots of other people engage in strategic work (Spender & Grant, 1996; Mantere, 2005). An explanation for this is the versatility of strategy (Vaara, 2010). This complies with one of the reasons web developers gave for their unfamiliarity with their company's strategy: the company has different strategies for different departments. Because there are different strategies in the company, web developers are only familiar with the ones they come in contact with.

5.1.2.3 Unfamiliarity with ethics in web development

Finally, the last part of the unfamiliarity theme is about the unfamiliarity of web developers with ethics in their work. Earlier research does not comply with the findings of this study. It became clear that web developers are unfamiliar with dark patterns. However, dark patterns are quite common in the world of web development. Recent studies have shown that dark patterns were discovered on almost 1,200 e-commerce websites and 95 per cent of the popular Android apps contain dark patterns (Di Geronimo et al., 2020; Mathur et al., 2019). This would mean that, because they are so commonly used in web development, web developers should be familiar with those patterns. However, this is not the case, as findings from this study have shown. This could mean that web developers are unfamiliar with the concept, or are unfamiliar but do recognise the patterns.

5.1.3 Design choices

The last theme that emerged from the data consists of three sub-themes: user-centred design, design choices based on ethics and contradicting choices.

5.1.3.1 User-centred design

There are a few findings that emerged from analysing the data that support the sub-theme of user-centred design. To begin with, web developers believe that an end product should be created for the end user, as they are the ones using it. That the end user is more important than the client is supported by the literature. According to previous research, companies with a higher customer focus do better in terms of CSR (e.g., Jansson et al., 2017; Kiessling et al., 2016). Yuan et al. (2018) furthermore mention that CSR has a positive impact on consumers' perceptions of companies and consumer buying behaviour. Thus, focussing on the end user will have a positive outcome business-wise. However, there are some areas that need focus as well. For instance, when it comes to usability, the quality assessment of it is dependent on the abilities and expertise of the web

developer (Conte et al., 2007). Therefore, the usability of a web service is mostly subjective to the creators.

Additionally, web developers consider that the focus on the end user is important to the client as well. This is supported by research by Swaak et al. (2009), which shows that website design elements may have a major impact on an organization's performance. Swaak et al. furthermore mention the difficulty of persuading people of the necessity of a well-considered web design, that pays close attention to the end users' experiences.

5.1.3.2 Design choices based on ethics

When it comes to design choices based on ethics, previous research is both in line with and contradicts with this research's findings. First, web developers do not want to work with unethical projects or clients. According to a recent study, there is an important link between the quality of a product and the well-being and happiness of the developers (Novielli & Serebrenik, 2019). However, some experts in the industry are of the opinion that you have to do something yourself to make the world a better place (Rand-Hendriksen, 2018). On the other hand, turning down unethical projects sparks the discussion of ethical issues, which in turn is one step forward to "more ethically informed management" (Clegg et al., 2007, p. 117).

Another finding in the sub-theme of design choices based on ethics is that of web developers not wanting to exploit the end user. Dark patterns fit this description as they are defined as an established method of exploiting and misleading consumers (Bösch et al., 2016; Mathur et al., 2021). Consumer trust in markets can be harmed by dark patterns, and organizations that participate in lawful and honest procedures might suffer as a result (Mathur et al., 2021). However, despite wanting to not exploit the user, it sometimes happens. For example with what Bösch et al. (2016) call "address book leeching" (p. 251): when service providers store the user's contacts for future processing, including for reasons that were not previously specified. This also surfaced from analysing the data of this study.

The last two findings of this sub-theme are about accessibility: web developers want the end product to be accessible for everyone. This implies that they have to design with a more diverse user group in mind, including for instance blind individuals. This contradicts with earlier research, as it was found that not all web developers and organizations are aware of the negative consequences of inaccessible websites, as usability has an impact on users' trust and behaviour (Swaak et al., 2009). Furthermore, excluding users can reduce the user's their sense of well-being, their belief in a purposeful life, and their self-esteem (Williams et al., 2000).

37

5.1.3.3 Contradicting choices

The last sub-theme of design choices is that of contradicting choices. Although web developers have a strong opinion when it comes to ethics, they experience difficulty with standing their ground on the subject. This contradicts with the literature. While more companies are switching toward data-driven designs, web developers still hold tremendous power when it comes to design (Narayanan et al., 2020). Another contradiction lies in not using privacy by design, despite web developers seem to be advocates of privacy. It could be that the findings should be interpreted differently, as one may have an opinion on certain ethical principles, it is how one acts in response to them that establishes ethical practice (Clegg et al., 2007). When it comes to web developers not using privacy by design, despite their preference for it, there is literature that shares their view. For instance, Bösch et al. (2016) name a common criticism of the privacy by design method is that the seven key principles are too broad to be used directly in development. Additionally, web developers named another contradiction. Despite they block all website tracking themselves with extra software, they keep implementing tracking software into their websites. Developers are typically aware of problems; they talk about them over coffee and lunch, and occasionally during evaluations and retrospectives (Ozkaya, 2019). When scheduling and resource difficulties arise, however, developers may or may not be motivated to discuss some of the product's flaws.

Another finding related to contradicting choices is that web developers experience fast, contradicting changes in strategy. This complies with earlier findings as the current corporate climate necessitates a faster time to market and more adaptability to changing company needs (Tomanek et al., 2014). Furthermore, the rapid changes in online technology are widely recognized, and the challenge of developing projects in such a constantly changing environment has been a common issue in the existing literature on web development education (Connolly, 2019).

5.2 Reflection on the conducted research

This research used a qualitative approach to explore a possible tension that web developers in the Netherlands have between business strategy and business ethics. As ethics is something that emerges depending on the context and the situation, it is difficult to unravel it using rules (Carter et al., 2007; Clegg et al., 2007). It thus makes sense to use language to get an understanding of the concept through the experiences of web developers (Brennen, 2017).

This research is based on 11 interviews with web developers in the Netherlands. The number of interviews is rather limiting, even though useful material has emerged and saturation started happening. As a consequence, the results' generalizability could be limited. It proved to be harder than anticipated to recruit interviewees. While enough potential participants were found through LinkedIn, most turned down the invitation due to their busy schedule.

Something that made the recruitment phase a bit harder was the choice to not interview multiple individuals from the same company. Although this was possible in multiple occasions, the thought behind this choice was to have a diverse sample as possible. The final sample contained no web developers working for the same employer.

Another point of interest is the interview guide. The interview guide contained a lot of questions resulting in long interviews. While this did not matter to some interviewees, others were on a stricter schedule and started to shorten their answers the longer the interview lasted. In the end a lot data was gathered, but the extensive interview guide limited the room for more in-depth questioning.

5.3 Implications for practice

As this research shows, web developers do have knowledge and opinions about ethics in their field of work. The origin of the problems related to not putting 'enough' ethics into practice seems to be mostly related to insufficient time and disinterest. Because the task list of web developers has grown in size throughout the years (Connolly, 2019) their available time to focus on other things has become less and less. This affects the time web developers can spend on practising ethics and strategy. Because there is a shortage when it comes to web developers (Dominus, 2022; Sloyan, 2022) this situation does not seem to change anytime soon. Thus, maybe the way web development is practised offers possibilities. Right now, a lot of web projects are based on frontend and backend frameworks such as Google's Angular, Meta's React and Otwell's Laravel (Angular, n.d.; Laravel, n.d.; React, n.d.). These frameworks have shown to speed up and increase the quality of web development (Kaluža et al., 2018). But can it be improved further?

Recently, low-code development is growing rapidly (Costelllo & Rimol, 2021). Low-code development platforms are user-friendly visual environments that enable the creation of software products without the need for programming experience (Sahay et al., 2020). Because this method of development allows non-developers to create software products, it could be a solution to the shortage of developers. Furthermore, these low-code platforms have a given set of design patterns that can be used. Therefore, if these patterns are created following the right ethical guidelines, all products that come out of these low-code platforms will follow these guidelines as well.

Another possibility for improvement is related to the disinterest web developers have when it comes to ethical guidelines. One of the possible explanations for this is the lack of clarity due to the huge number of different guidelines (Floridi, 2019). If this number can be brought down it might

become clearer and more manageable for web developers, which in turn could spark the interest of web developers. A possible favourable side effect could be that a single guideline becomes an industry standard. Additionally, in case such a guideline becomes required by law, it would result in a greater interest as well, as happened with the GDPR. All in all, the current tension between ethics and strategy can certainly be reduced.

5.4 Limitations

Looking back on this research, despite the fact that useful information was discovered and saturation occurred, several limitations should be addressed. To begin with, due to the ongoing restraint on COVID-19, all interviews were held online instead of face to face. Even if properly carried out in the most effective manner feasible, it is plausible that due to being held online not all opportunities for probing or other responses. In addition, this research has a possible limitation in the sampling of experts interviewed. With the searching and recruitment process clearly explained in the methodology, the problem lies within the searching of the sample source: LinkedIn. Because LinkedIn shows its search results of individuals sorted from first-degree connection and up, almost all participants of this study were first- or second-degree connections of the researcher. This, in a way homogenous sample, might have had an impact on the study's findings. Additionally, the results of this study cannot be applied to the entire population of web developers due to the nonprobability sampling design (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016).

Another limitation might be related to the language barrier. Although both the participants and the researcher have Dutch as their native language, some interviews were held in English, while the others were translated to English. As a result, some participants may have been less secure speaking in a second language, which may have influenced how they expressed themselves. Additionally, when it comes to the interviews held in Dutch, there is a possibility that elements were lost in translation.

5.5 Suggestions for further research

Although saturation was reached, future research could include participants from other nationalities to increase the generalizability of the results. Currently only Dutch web developers were recruited for this study. Further research could focus on a more global sample to see if the results of this study are globally replicable. International orientated research would furthermore be interesting as it will allow comparison between different countries and cultures. As both ethics and strategy (practices) are linked to norms of behaviour (Clegg et al., 2007; Whittington, 2006), researching

participants of different cultural backgrounds could result in different outcomes. As a result, it could be that companies active in different cultural areas need different strategical approaches.

Additionally, further research could focus more on web developers with a role in management. While some web developers in this study had those professional responsibilities, more insight in their decision-making process could be gained from specifically focusing on that group. Although the group might be more difficult to recruit due to their extra tasks, insights that might arise from such study can potentially be turned into practice more quickly, as the participants under study already hold decision-making features in their companies.

One of the main findings of this research is that of unfamiliarity. It is presumable that because web developers are unfamiliar with guidelines and the company's strategy, they make more decisions based on feelings in both those areas. Further studies could concentrate on what can help make web developers familiar with guidelines and their company's strategy.

The results of these studies will help understand the role of ethics and strategy in web development, and perhaps, in the future, improve the process and quality of web development.

6. Conclusion

This research sought to explore a possible tension that web developers in the Netherlands have between business strategy and business ethics. According to the qualitative analysis of interviews, there is a significant tension between business strategy and business ethics for Dutch web developers.

To begin with, web developers in the Netherlands use on multiple subjects their feelings in decision-making. Letting feelings decide when it comes to ethics is in line with research by Clegg et al. (2007). Additionally, web developers use their feelings as well when they make decisions related to privacy. Their feelings direct them in various cases to solutions that comply with privacy patterns, as mentioned by Hoepman (2014). However, despite Mathur et al. (2021) found that designers have significant influence, results of this study conflict with those earlier findings, as web developers think they have little to no influence when it comes to privacy. Web developers furthermore use their feelings when it comes to strategical decision-making. That feelings affect business operations were discussed in earlier studies as well (Jarzabkowski et al., 2021; Maitlis & Christianson, 2014). Overall, the use of feelings in decision-making does not seem to influence web developers negatively and demonstrate a strong relation between ethics and strategy.

Next, the unfamiliarity that web developers have deviates more from previous studies. Although web developers were familiar with some guidelines, such as the GDPR, they were mostly not familiar with guidelines overall, which contradicts with earlier research (Alonso-Virgós et al., 2019; Conte et al., 2007). When it comes to the unfamiliarity of web developers with their company's strategy on the other hand, it mostly corresponds with earlier research (Tracy, 2015). However, the unfamiliarity of web developers with ethics in their work contradicts with previous findings (Di Geronimo et al., 2020; Mathur et al., 2019). In relation to unfamiliarity, there seems to be a weak relationship between ethics and strategy. Due to the unfamiliarity with guidelines and strategy, web developers are forced to make their own choices. As these choices are based on ethics and their choices can be seen as strategical, there seems to be a noticeable relationship between ethics and strategy.

Finally, the different design choices web developers make is more balanced when it comes to earlier research. Earlier research shows as well a more important end user, compared to the importance of the client (Jansson et al., 2017; Kiessling et al., 2016). It furthermore agrees with the duality of design choices based on ethics, for instance when turning down unethical projects (Novielli & Serebrenik, 2019). Moreover, web developers have to deal with contradictions when it comes to design choices, something that earlier research is divided over (Bösch et al., 2016; Narayanan et al., 2020). The pondering on which strategy to go with when it comes to contradicting choices, shows the importance of ethics for web developers. On the whole, there seems to be again a strong relationship between strategy and ethics.

All in all, the results of this research show that ethics play a large role in the daily of web developers and that there is a strong relationship between ethics and business strategy.

References

- Alonso-Virgós, L., Espada, J. P., & Crespo, R. G. (2019). Analyzing compliance and application of usability guidelines and recommendations by web developers. *Computer Standards and Interfaces, 64*, 117-132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csi.2019.01.004</u>
- Angst, C. M., & Agarwal, R. (2009). Adoption of electronic health records in the presence of privacy concerns: The elaboration likelihood model and individual persuasion. *MIS Quarterly, 33*(2), 339–370. https://doi.org/10.5555/2017424.2017430

Angular. (n.d.). The modern web developer's platform. Angular. https://angular.io/

- Atkinson, R. & Flint, J. (2004). Snowball sampling. In M. Lewis-Beck, A. Bryman & T. Futing Liao (Eds.), *The SAGE encyclopedia of social science research methods* (Vol. 1, pp. 1044-1044). SAGE Publications, Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412950589.n931</u>
- ATLAS.ti. (2022). *ATLAS,ti web* (version 3.10.0-2022-01-19) [Web App]. ATLASti.com. https://atlasti.com/cloud/
- Bartunek, J. M., Rynes, S. L., & Ireland, R. D. (2006). What makes management research interesting, and why does it matter? Academy of Management Journal, 49(1), 9-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2006.20785494</u>
- Basl, J. & Doucek, P. (2012, September). ICT and Innovations in context of the sustainable development in Europe. 20th Interdisciplinary Information Management Talks (IDIMT), Jindrichuv Hradec.
- Bauman, Z. & Tester, K. (2001). Conversations With Zygmunt Bauman. Polity.
- Beck, K., Beedle, M., van Bennekum, A., Cockburn, A., Cunningham, W., Fowler, M., Grenning, J.,
 Highsmith, J., Hunt, A., Jeffries, R., Kern, J., Marick, B., Martin, R. C., Mellor, S., Schwaber, K.,
 Sutherland, J. & Thomas, D. (2001). *Manifesto for agile software development*.
 https://agilemanifesto.org/

Berg, B. L. (2001). Qualitative research methods for the social sciences (4th ed.). Allyn & Bacon.

- Bietti, E. (2021). From ethics washing to ethics bashing: A view on tech ethics from within moral philosophy. *SSRN Electronic Journal*, (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3914119</u>
- Boeije, H. R. (2010). Analysis in qualitative research. SAGE Publications, Inc.

Borowski, D. (2017, April 1). A guide to becoming a full-stack developer in 2017. Medium. https://medium.com/coderbyte/a-guide-to-becoming-a-full-stack-developer-in-2017-5c3c08a1600c

- Bösch, C., Erb, B., Kargl, F., Kopp, H., & Pfattheicher, S. (2016). Tales from the dark side: Privacy dark strategies and privacy dark patterns. *Proceedings on Privacy Enhancing Technologies, 2016*(4), 237-254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/popets-2016-0038</u>
- Boyatzis, R. E. (1998). *Transforming qualitative information: thematic analysis and code development.* SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa</u>
- Brennen, B. S. (2017). Qualitative research methods for media studies (2nd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315435978

Brignull, H. (n.d.). Dark patterns. https://www.darkpatterns.org/

- Brunsson, N., & Jacobsson, B. (2002). A world of standards. Oxford University Press. <u>https://doi.org</u> /10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199256952.001.0001
- Carter, C., Clegg, S. R., Kornberger, M., Laske, S. & Messner, M. (2007). Introduction. In C. Carter, S. R.
 Clegg, M. Kornberger, S. Laske & M. Messner (Eds.), *Business ethics as practice* (pp. 1-9).
 Edward Elgar Publishing Limited.
- Cath, C., Wachter, S., Mittelstadt, B., Taddeo, M., & Floridi, L. (2018). Artificial Intelligence and the 'good society': the US, EU, and UK approach. *Science and Engineering Ethics*, *24*(2), 505–528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-017-9901-7</u>
- Cavoukian, A. (2011). *Privacy by design*. Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario. https://www.ipc.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/resources/7foundationalprinciples.pdf
- Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. (2021). *Werkzame beroepsbevolking; beroep* [Data set]. Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. <u>https://opendata.cbs.nl/#/CBS/nl/dataset/82808NED</u> /table?dl=61985
- Chandler, C. & Barrett, E. (2019, November 26). *Should designers adopt a code of ethics*? Fortune. <u>https://fortune.com/2019/11/26/should-designers-adopt-a-code-of-ethics/</u>
- Chau, L. L. F., & Siu, W. S. (2000). Ethical decision-making in corporate entrepreneurial organizations. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *23*(4), 365-375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023</u> /A:1006144910907
- Clegg, S., Kornberger, M., & Rhodes, C. (2007). Business ethics as practice. *British Journal of Management, 18*(2), 107-122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8551.2006.00493.x</u>
- Cockburn, A. (2005). Two case studies motivating efficiency as a "spendable" quantity. In *Proceedings International Conference Agility (ICAM)* (pp. 1-6).
- Connolly, R. (2019). Facing backwards while stumbling forwards. In *Proceedings of the 50th ACM Technical Symposium on Computer Science Education* (pp. 518-523). <u>https://doi.org</u> /10.1145/3287324.3287433

- Conte, T., Massollar, J., Mendes, E., & Travassos G. H. (2007). Usability evaluation based on web design perspectives. In, *First International Symposium on Empirical Software Engineering and Measurement (ESEM 2007),* (pp. 146-155). IEEE. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ESEM.2007.30</u>
- Coplien, J. O., & Bjørnvig, G. (2011). *Lean architecture: for agile software development*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Costelllo, K. & Rimol, M. (2021, February 16). *Gartner forecasts worldwide low-code development technologies market to grow 23% in 2021*. Gartner. <u>https://www.gartner.com/en/newsroom/press-releases/2021-02-15-gartner-forecasts-worldwide-low-code-development-technologies-market-to-grow-23-percent-in-2021</u>
- Creswell, J. W. & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- De Wit, J. & Kalkhoven, F. (2019). UWV factsheet arbeidsmarkt ICT 2019 [Fact sheet]. Uitvoeringsinstituut Werknemersverzekeringen. <u>https://www.uwv.nl/overuwv/Images</u> /factsheet-ict-beroepen-2019.pdf
- Di Geronimo, L., Braz, L., Fregnan, E., Palomba, F., & Bacchelli, A. (2020). UI dark patterns and where to find them: A study on mobile applications and user perception. In *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 1–14). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3313831.3376600
- Dominus, S. (2022, February 16). *Tech companies face a fresh crisis: Hiring*. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2022/02/16/magazine/tech-company-recruiters.html
- Doty, N. & Gupta, M. (2013, July). *Privacy design patterns and anti-patterns* [Paper presentation]. Symposium on Usable Privacy and Security (SOUPS), Newcastle, United Kingdom. <u>https://cups.cs.cmu.edu/soups/2013/trustbusters2013/Privacy_Design_Patterns-</u> <u>Antipatterns_Doty.pdf</u>
- Du Gay, P. (2000). In praise of bureaucracy: Weber, organization, ethics. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *41*(6), 1319-1320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-012-0016-6</u>
- European Commission. (n.d.). *Data protection in the EU*. European Commission. <u>https://ec.europa.eu</u>/info/law/law-topic/data-protection/data-protection-eu_en
- Flick, U. (2007). *Designing qualitative research*. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Flick, U. (2009). An introduction to qualitative research (4th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Floridi, L. (2019). Translating principles into practices of digital ethics: Five risks of being unethical. *Philosophy & Technology, 32*(2), 185-193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13347-019-00354-x</u>
- Forbrukerrådet. (2018). Deceived by design. Forbrukerrådet. https://fil.forbrukerradet.no/wp-

```
content/uploads/2018/06/2018-06-27-deceived-by-design-final.pdf
```

- Freeman, R. E. & Gilbert, D. R. (1988). *Corporate strategy and the search for ethics*. Prentice Hall Direct.
- Friedman, B., Kahn, P. H., Borning, A., Huldtgren, A. 2013. Value-sensitive design and information systems. In N. Doorn, D. Schuurbiers, I. van de Poel & M. E. Gorman (Eds.), *Early Engagement* and New Technologies: Opening up the Laboratory (pp. 55-95). Springer. <u>https://doi.org</u> /10.1007/978-94-007-7844-3_4
- Gallagher, J. R. (2019). A pedagogy of ethical interface production based on virtue ethics. In *Digital Ethics* (pp. 69-84). Routledge.
- Golsorkhi, D., Rouleau, L., Seidl, D., & Vaara, E. (2015). Introduction: What is strategy as practice? In
 D. Golsorkhi, L. Rouleau, D. Seidl & E. Vaara (Eds.), *Cambridge handbook of strategy as practice* (2nd ed., pp. 1-30). Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017</u>
 <u>/CB09781139681032.001</u>
- Hallman, R. (2021, May 24). *Transparency report: Second half of 2020*. LinkedIn. <u>https://blog.linkedin.com/2021/may/20/transparency-report-second-half-of-2020</u>
- Hammersley, M. & Atkinson, P. (2007). Ethnography: Principles in practice (3rd ed.). Routledge.
- Hoepman, J. (2014). Privacy design strategies. In N. Cuppens-Boulahia, F. Cuppens, S. Jajodia, A. Abou
 El Kalam & T. Sans, (Eds.), *ICT systems security and privacy protection* (pp. 446-459).
 Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-55415-5_38
- Horst, S.-O. (2020). Teaching strategy as an ethical practice. In S. Baumann (Ed.), *Teaching strategic management* (pp. 31-50). Edward Elgar Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.4337</u> /9781788978361.00010
- Horst, S.-O., Järventie-Thesleff, R., & Baumann, S. (2019). The practice of shared inquiry: How actors manage for strategy emergence. *Journal of Media Business Studies*, 16(3), 202–229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/16522354.2019.1641672</u>
- Ibarra-Colado, E. (2002). Organizational paradoxes and business ethics: In search of new modes of existence. In S. R. Clegg (Ed.), *Management and organization paradoxes* (pp. 165-184). John Benjamins Publishing Company.
- Israel, M., & Hay, I. (2006). Research ethics for social scientists: Between ethical conduct and regulatory compliance. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Jansson, J., Nilsson, J., Modig, F., & Hed Vall, G. (2017). Commitment to sustainability in small and Medium-Sized enterprises: The influence of strategic orientations and management values. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, *26*(1), 69-83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1901</u>.
- Jarzabkowski, P. & Spee, P. (2006). Strategy-as-practice: A review and future directions for the field. *International Journal of Management Reviews, 11*(1), 69–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2370.2008.00250.x</u>

- Jarzabkowski, P., Kavas, M., & Krull, E. (2021). It's practice. but is it strategy? Reinvigorating strategyas-practice by rethinking consequentiality. *Organization Theory*, *2*(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177</u> /26317877211029665
- Kaluža, M., Troskot, K. & Vukelić, B. (2018). Comparison of front-end frameworks for web applications development. *Zbornik Veleučilišta U Rijeci, 6*(1), 261-282. <u>https://doi.org</u> /10.31784/zvr.6.1.19
- Kant, I. (2004). Fundamental Principles of the Metaphysic of Morals. Project Gutenberg. https://www.gutenberg.org/ebooks/5682
- Kaye, K. (2022, May 19). For people with disabilities, AI can only go so far to make the web more accessible. Protocol. <u>https://www.protocol.com/enterprise/digital-accessibility-ai-evinced-human</u>
- Kiessling, T., Isaksson, L., & Yasar, B. (2016). Market orientation and CSR: Performance implications. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 137(2), 269-284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2555-y</u>
- Kobsa, A., Cho, H., & Knijnenburg, B. P. (2016). The effect of personalization provider characteristics on privacy attitudes and behaviors: An elaboration likelihood model approach. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology, 67*(11), 2587-2606. <u>https://doi.org</u> /10.1002/asi.23629
- Kohtamäki, M., Whittington, R., Vaara, E., & Rabetino, R. (2021). Making connections: Harnessing the diversity of strategy-as-practice research. *International Journal of Management Reviews*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12274</u>
- Kvale, S. (1994). *Interviews: An introduction to qualitative research interviewing*. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Laboratoire d'innovation numérique de la CNIL. (2019). *Shaping choices in the digital world*. Commission Nationale de l'Informatique et des Libertés. <u>https://linc.cnil.fr/sites/default/files</u> /atoms/files/cnil_ip_report_06_shaping_choices_in_the_digital_world.pdf
- Laravel. (n.d.). The PHP Framework for web artisans. Laravel. https://laravel.com
- Legard, R., Keegan, J. & Ward, K. (2003). In-depth Interviews. In J. Richie & J. Lewis (Eds.), *Qualitative Research Practice* (pp. 139-168). SAGE.
- Lowry, P. B., Moody, G., Vance, A., Jensen, M., Jenkins, J., & Wells, T. (2012). Using an elaboration likelihood approach to better understand the persuasiveness of website privacy assurance cues for online consumers. *Journal of the Association for Information Science & Technology, 63*(4), 755-776. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.21705</u>

- Maitlis, S., & Christianson, M. (2014). Sensemaking in organizations: Taking stock and moving forward. *The Academy of Management Annals, 8*(1), 57–125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080</u>/19416520.2014.873177
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative health research*, *26*(13), 1753–1760. <u>https://doi.org</u> /10.1177/1049732315617444
- Mantere, S. (2005). Strategic practices as enablers and disablers of championing activity. *Strategic Organization*, *3*(2), 157-184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1476127005052208</u>
- Mason, M. (2010). Sample size and saturation in PhD studies using qualitative interviews. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 11(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-11.3.1428</u>
- Mathur, A., Acar, G., Friedman, M. J., Lucherini, E., Mayer, J., Chetty, M., Narayanan, A. (2019). Dark patterns at scale: findings from a crawl of 11K shopping websites. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction* 3(CSCW), 1-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3359183</u>
- Mathur, A., Kshirsagar, M., & Mayer, J. (2021). What makes a dark pattern... dark? *Proceedings of the* 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145</u> /3411764.3445610
- McMullan, T. (2014, October 20). *Developers must address the ethics of using location data*. The Guardian. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2014/oct/20/developers-ethics-location-data</u>
- Meyrick, J. (2006). What is good qualitative research?: A first step towards a comprehensive approach to judging rigour/quality. *Journal of Health Psychology, 11*(5), 799-808. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105306066643
- Morse, J. M. (2004). Purposive sampling. In M. Lewis-Beck, A. Bryman & T. Futing Liao (Eds.), *The SAGE encyclopedia of social science research methods* (Vol. 1, pp. 884-885). SAGE Publications, Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412950589.n774</u>
- Munro, I. (2016). Codes of ethics: Some uses and abuses. In: P. W. F. Davies (Ed.), *Current Issues in Business Ethics* (pp. 97–106). Routledge.
- NapoleonCat. (2022). *Linkedin users in Netherlands January 2022*. NapoleonCat. https://napoleoncat.com/stats/linkedin-users-in-netherlands/2022/01/
- Narayanan, A., Mathur, A., Chetty, M., & Kshirsagar, M. (2020). Dark patterns: Past, present, and future. *Queue*, *18*(2), 67-92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3400899.3400901</u>
- Nariman, M., & Domingus, M. (2016, December). *Standard EUR informed consent form template*. <u>https://www.eur.nl/en/eshcc/media/71409</u>
- Nietzsche, F. W. (2016). *The genealogy of morals*. Project Gutenberg. <u>https://www.gutenberg.org</u> /ebooks/52319

- Novielli, N., & Serebrenik, A. (2019). Sentiment and emotion in software engineering. *IEEE* Software, 36(5), 6-23. https://doi.org/10.1109/MS.2019.2924013
- Olson, E. M., Olson, K. M., Czaplewski, A. J., & Key, T. M. (2021). Business strategy and the management of digital marketing. *Business Horizons, 64*(2), 285-293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016</u> /j.bushor.2020.12.004
- Ozkaya, I. (2019). The voice of the developer. *IEEE Software, 36*(5), 3-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109</u> /MS.2019.2926545
- Pancake, C. M. (2018, August 8). Programmers need ethics when designing the technologies that influence people's lives. The Conversation. <u>https://theconversation.com/programmers-need-</u> <u>ethics-when-designing-the-technologies-that-influence-peoples-lives-100802</u>
- Pierce, J. R., Kilduff, G. J., Galinsky, A. D., & Sivanathan, N. (2013). From glue to gasoline: How competition turns perspective takers unethical. *Psychological Science*, *24*(10), 1986–1994. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613482144</u>
- Punch, K. F. (2014). *Introduction to social research: Quantitative and qualitative approaches* (3rd ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Rand-Hendriksen, M. (2018). Using ethics in web design. Smashing Magazine. https://www.smashingmagazine.com/2018/03/using-ethics-in-web-design/
- Rasche, A. (2008). The paradoxical foundation of strategic management. Springer. <u>https://doi.org</u> /10.1007/978-3-7908-1976-2

React. (n.d.). React a JavaScript library for building user interfaces. React. https://reactjs.org/

- Robbins, J. N. (2018). Learning web design (5th ed.). O'Reilly.
- Rubin, H. J. & Rubin, I. S. (2005). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (2nd ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452226651</u>
- Russon, M. & Hooker, L. (2021, March 21). UK 'heading towards digital skills shortage disaster'. BBC. https://www.bbc.com/news/business-56479304
- Sahay, A., Indamutsa, A., Di Ruscio, D., & Pierantonio, A. (2020). Supporting the understanding and comparison of low-code development platforms. 2020 46th Euromicro Conference on Software Engineering and Advanced Applications (SEAA), 171-178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109</u> /SEAA51224.2020.00036
- Schwaber, K., & Sutherland, J. (2020, November). *The scrum guide*. Scrumguides.org. https://scrumguides.org/docs/scrumguide/v2020/2020-Scrum-Guide-US.pdf

Scrum.org. (n.d.). About. https://www.scrum.org/about

ScrumGuides.org. (n.d.). Home. https://scrumguides.org/

Sekaran, U. & Bougie, R. (2016). *Research methods for business: A skill-building approach* (7th ed.). Wiley.

Silverman, D. (2014). Interpreting qualitative data (5th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.

- Sloyan, T. (2022, June 8). *Is there a developer shortage? Yes, but the problem is more complicated than it looks*. Forbes. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbestechcouncil/2021/06/08/is-there-a-</u> <u>developer-shortage-yes-but-the-problem-is-more-complicated-than-it-looks/</u>
- Soares, C. (2003). Corporate versus individual moral responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 46(2), 143-150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025061632660</u>
- Spender, J. C., & Grant, R. M. (1996). Knowledge and the firm: Overview. *Strategic Management Journal*, *17*(S2), 5-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250171103</u>
- Sutherland, J., Jacobson, I., & Kerr, B. (2020). Scrum essentials cards: Experiences of scrum teams improving with essence. *Queue*, *18*(3), 83-106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3411757.3418775</u>
- Swaak, M., De Jong, M., & De Vries, P. (2009). Effects of information usefulness, visual attractiveness, and usability on web visitors' trust and behavioral intentions. In, 2009 IEEE International Professional Communication Conference, (pp. 1-5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1109</u> /IPCC.2009.5208719
- Tomanek, M., Cermak, R., & Smutny, Z. (2014). A conceptual framework for web development projects based on project management and agile development principles. 10th European Conference on Management Leadership and Governance (ECMLG), 550-558. <u>https://doi.org</u> /10.13140/2.1.1262.4165
- Tracy, B. (2015). Business strategy. AMACOM.
- Tzŭ, S. (1994). The art of war. Project Gutenberg. https://www.gutenberg.org/ebooks/132
- Vaara, E. (2010). Taking the linguistic turn seriously: Strategy as a multifaceted and interdiscursive phenomenon. In B. Joel A.C., & J. Lampel (Eds.), *The globalization of strategy research* (pp. 29-50). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/S0742-3322(2010)0000027005</u>
- Vaara, E., & Whittington, R. (2012). Strategy-as-practice: Taking social practices seriously. The Academy of Management Annals, 6(1), 285-336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080</u> /19416520.2012.672039
- Wales, M. (2021, July 1). 3 web dev careers decoded: Front-end vs back-end vs full stack. Udacity https://www.udacity.com/blog/2020/12/front-end-vs-back-end-vs-full-stack-webdevelopers.html
- Wazeter, F. (2022, May 17). *The horrifying problem with the way web design and development is taught*. Entrepreneur. <u>https://www.entrepreneur.com/article/424652</u>
- Whittemore, R., Chase, S. K., & Mandle, C. L. (2001). Validity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 11(4), 522-537. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/104973201129119299</u>

- Whittington, R. (2006). Completing the practice turn in strategy research. *Organization Studies, 27*(5), 613-634. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840606064101</u>
- Whittington, R. (2007). Strategy practice and strategy process: Family differences and the sociological eye. *Organization Studies, 28*(10), 1575-1586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840607081557</u>
- Williams, K. D., Cheung, C. K., & Choi, W. (2000). Cyberostracism: effects of being ignored over the Internet. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *79*(5), 748–762. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.79.5.748
- Woodbury, M. (1998). Defining web ethics. *Science and Engineering Ethics*, 4(2), 203-212. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-998-0050-x
- Yeh, C., Lee, G., & Pai, J. (2012). How information system capability affects e-business information technology strategy implementation. *Business Process Management Journal, 18*(2), 197-218. https://doi.org/10.1108/14637151211225171
- Yuan, Y., Lu, L. Y., Tian, G., & Yu, Y. (2018). Business strategy and corporate social responsibility. Journal of Business Ethics, 162(2), 359-377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3952-9</u>

Appendix A

Informed consent form

Project Title and version	Master thesis business strategy and ethics, v. 01-2022		
Name of Principal	Maarten Brakkee		
Investigator			
Purpose of the Study	I am inviting you to participate in this research project about web		
	developers. The purpose of this research project is to understand how		
	web developers manage work, business strategy and ethics.		
Procedures	You will participate in an interview lasting approximately 45-60		
	minutes. You will be asked questions about web development,		
	strategy and ethics. Sample questions include: "How does your		
	organization share its strategy with its employees?" and "Can you give		
	an example of a work situation that consisted of both business		
	strategy and ethics?".		
	You must be at least 18 years old.		
Potential and anticipated	There are no obvious physical, legal or economic risks associated with		
Risks and Discomforts	participating in this study. You do not have to answer any questions		
	you do not wish to answer. Your participation is voluntary and you are		
	free to discontinue your participation at any time.		
Potential Benefits	Participation in this study does not guarantee any beneficial results to		
	you. The material from the interviews and observation will be used		
	exclusively for academic work, such as further research, academic		
	meetings and publications.		
Sharing the results	If desired, the research's findings can be shared with you.		
Confidentiality	Your privacy will be protected to the maximum extent allowable by		
	law. No personally identifiable information will be reported in any		
	research product. Moreover, only trained research staff will have		
	access to your responses. Within these restrictions, results of this		
	study will be made available to you upon request.		
	As indicated above, this research project involves making audio		
	recordings of interviews with you. Transcribed segments from the		

	audio recordings may be used in published forms (e.g., journal articles
	and book chapters). In the case of publication, pseudonyms will be
	used. The audio recordings, forms, and other documents created or
	collected as part of this study will be stored in a secure location in the
	researchers' offices or on the researcher's password-protected
	computers and will be destroyed within ten years of the initiation of
	the study.
Compensation	There will be no monetary compensation for your participation.
Right to Withdraw and	Your participation in this research is completely voluntary. You may
Questions	choose not to take part at all. If you decide to participate in this
	research, you may stop participating at any time. If you decide not to
	participate in this study or if you stop participating at any time, you
	will not be penalised or lose any benefits to which you otherwise
	qualify.
	If you decide to stop taking part in the study, if you have questions,
	concerns, or complaints, or if you need to report an injury related to
	the research, please contact the primary investigator:
	Maarten Brakkee, 580076mb@student.eur.nl
Statement of Consent	Your signature indicates that you are at least 18 years of age; you
	have read this consent form or have had it read to you; your
	questions have been answered to your satisfaction and you
	voluntarily agree that you will participate in this research study. You
	will receive a copy of this signed consent form.
	If you agree to participate, please sign your name below.
Audio recording	I consent to have my interview audio recorded
(if applicable)	□ yes
	🗆 no
Secondary use	I consent to have the anonymised data be used for secondary analysis
(if applicable)	□ yes
.	
Signature and date	Name participant Name principal investigator

Signature

Signature

Date

Date

Appendix B

Interview guide

Interviewing web developers in the Netherlands on tensions between business strategy and business ethics.

- 1. Introduction
 - How are you doing?
 - Explain confidentiality. Explain recording. Assure questions may be skipped and the interview may be stopped at any moment.
 - Any questions before we start?
- 2. General

Points to cover:

- Can you tell me a bit about yourself?
 - How old you are, how long are you a web developer, what you specialization is, can you tell me anything about your employer/organization, what is your highest educational degree, etc.?
- How would you describe your organization's structure?
- How would you describe a normal workday?

3. Strategy

Points to cover:

- What is strategy to you?
- What is not strategy?
- How would you describe your organization's strategy?
- How would you describe strategy forming processes in your organization?
- How does your organization share its strategy with its employees?
- How does your organization's strategy integrate in your everyday work?
- Are there challenges for integrating strategy in your everyday work?
- What advice would you give other organizations about implementing strategy into IT departments?

4. Ethics

Points to cover:

• How would you describe ethical behaviour in your own words?

- What kind of actions would you consider unethical?
- How do you know if something is ethical or unethical?
- Are there any general standards or agreements in the industry about this?
- How would you describe your organization's view on ethics?
- Are you discussing ethical issues openly in your team, organization, etc.? And what does that mean for you?
- What is, in your opinion, the relevance of ethical behaviour for your own work?
- Are there challenges for acting ethical in your everyday work?
- What is the best way to integrate ethics into your everyday work?
- How do ethical guidelines affect your everyday work?
- What advice would you give other web developers about ethics?

5. Web development

Points to cover:

- Can you explain who is, in your opinion, the most important, the client or the end user?
- How would you describe your organization's view on the importance of the client?
- How would you describe your organization's view on the importance of the end user?
- Are there any challenges for acting in the client's or end user's best interest?
- Can you give an example of a work situation that consisted of both business strategy and ethics?
- How do you feel about privacy measurements(/guidelines) in website/software development?
- How would you describe the role of privacy measurements in your everyday work?
- What advice would you give other web developers about privacy measurements?
- How would you describe dark patterns in your own words?
- What is the benefit of dark patterns? Why could it make sense to use them? Or not use them?
- Has this changed over time?
- Have you seen the use of dark patterns? Where specifically?
- How do you feel about implementation of dark patterns in website/software development?
- How would you describe the role of dark patterns in your everyday work?

- What advice would you give other web developers about dark patterns?
- 6. Ending
 - Before we wind up the interview, is there anything else you would like to know from us?
 - Thank you for your valuable time. Switch of recording. Make sure the participant is comfortable. Reassure about confidentiality and interest, chat, etc.

In case you have any questions or queries about this interview or the research, please feel free to contact me via email: <u>580076mb@student.eur.nl</u>.

Appendix C

Respondents' characteristics

Pseudonym	Sex	Аg e	Highest educational degree	Work experience
Bart	Male	Male 30 Secondary vocational education		Started as a web designer 10 years ago. Switched to UX/UI designer after a few years and is now product owner.
Erik	Male	38	Higher vocational education	Started as a front-end developer 18 years ago Switched after 10 years to a more interaction design role, and is currently busier with (online) branding.
Јаар	Male	33	Higher vocational education	Started as a web developer 12 years ago.
Jurgen	Male	37	Higher vocational education	Started as a designer 16 years ago. After 8 years some front-end work became part of hi daily tasks. Has currently the role of art director in which brings together front-end and design.
Mark	Male	27	Secondary vocational education	Started as a front-end developer 3 years ago.
Marloes	Femal e	26	Higher vocational education	Started as a web/UX designer 7 years ago.
Matthijs	Male	44	Higher vocational education	Started as a designer 23 years ago. Since switching to his current employer about a year ago, making websites became part of his job as well.
Pieter	Male	31	Master of science (MSc)	Started as a web developer 12 years ago. Switched to the role of product manager after 4 years. Currently holds the position of CEO in a web development start-up.
Sjors	Male	31	Higher vocational education	Started as a graphic designer 10 years ago. Quickly after started focussing more on the online part, making UX design and front-end development part of his job.
Thijs	Male	31	Master of science (MSc)	Started as an interaction designer 7 years ago Switched to UX Designer and researcher after 5 years.
Tim	Male	38	Senior general secondary education	Started as a web developer 15 years ago. Afte 3 years back-end development became more prominent.

Appendix D

Coding tree

Them			
е	Sub-theme	Code	Example quote from data
		Ethical decisions based on moral compass	Bart : Your moral compass somewhat indicating that, something you can and cannot do.
		Ethical decisions based on internal compass	Thijs : Yes, no one knows [if somethings is ethical or unethical]. But I have a sort of my own internal compass.
		Ethical decisions based on personal feelings	Bart: Yeah, that's a, yeah, kind of your feeling I guess.
	elings	E how would I react?	Matthijs: I think I mainly look at how I would react to it myself [when deciding if something is ethical or unethical].
	d on fee	E ethical /unethical based on reaction	Mark: Mostly I can see through people if I say something to them. You can see through their reaction, how they behave. Yeah, if you said something wrong, that can be unethical.
feelings	Ethical decisions based on feelings	Don't do to others what you wouldn't do to yourself	Erik : So for everyone working in web development, I'd say don't do it to others what you won't do to yourself.
Decisions based on feelings	ised on f	Ethics is subjectional	Erik : The thing with ethics, as you probably know, is that it's subjectional. So what we think is right, someone else may think is wrong. So there's always a bit of interpretation where.
isions ba	Ethi	E ethical /unethical based on culture	Pieter : Yeah, the issue there would be common sense, I would say. Which is obviously also the issue, because ethical or not, it is also based on culture and the way you were raised, nurturing.
Dec		E advice: do what feels good	Matthijs : Yes, I think the most important thing is to do what makes you feel good.
	ased on feelings	Advocate of privacy	Jurgen: So I'm pretty anal of where I leave my data. I don't have a bonus card, I don't have a like the smart CV heater at home. I don't do anything of that type stuff. Of course, and I always get the comments like: "Yeah, but you have a Google phone and you have a Google this.", of course. But where I can, I try to limit it as much as much as I can. So I'm very strong on privacy, well, privacy for a private person.
	Privacy decisions based	Developer's choice for privacy	Erik : Well, for me, what I've noticed is that the people working in web development are basically the ones that have all the trackers off and have Ghostly and Little Snitch and name them all.
		Data storage	Tim : Well, for example, going back to the WOZ value. I could have stored WOZ values in our database. But then you run the risk that, at the moment your database is hacked, you lose particularly sensitive personal data. And I don't think we would make the necessary investments to secure that in a responsible way.

	Privacy: tracking	Jurgen: What we do have is a lot of tracking stuff. We are tracking a lot of activity on our website. But that's all, the user is free to do on the website what he or she wants. It's not that we force them to do anything on our website. But also that stuff is for me personally it's privacy. I'm thinking of, I'm looking at complete recordings of people how to go to our website, how to type in their information. I'm like: "Do these if people know that we are doing this?". I'm also very curious of how this will look in the year or two. Because I think the privacy will be much more improved for end users.
	Unethical use of privacy	Jurgen: Other stuff, for instance, we're working on a job page for Company CC. One area where we are going to post all the jobs that we have available for all different labels. And we're also building a solicitation process into that page. With the solicitation process also comes the question like: "Hey, do you allow us to hold on to your resume for a couple of months, for the next, maybe a half year or something?". That also involves privacy and you also think of how are we going to give the end user of this website the privacy that they need or deserve or the privacy legally needed? So it comes comes around quite a lot.
	Holding data longer than necessary	Sjors : I have to say, I feel pretty bad about doing that. Look, the data is not abused, of course, let's put that first. And it is only kept longer than necessary. And we know that you have visited the site, so we actually know commercially what you are interested in. Yes, I personally don't have much of a problem with that.
	Privacy: already sharing, here is the rest	Thijs : And I think it's, yeah, I live a bit in the group of: "Okay, well, they already know so much about me, so here it is.". But I do think that everyone should have access to it. So I think it's very good that this GDPR is in place and that we are complying with it.
	Privacy advice: only do good	Pieter : Because in the end I think that's much more important and it also comes down and comes back to don't do evil. Only do good, and then eventually the law should comply with the things that you are doing because they should be in line.
	Privacy advice: block cookies	Sjors : And yes, if I did, it would be more towards the end user and then it would be more like: "Don't let all those cookies drive you crazy, because there are already tons of other tools that track everything about you." But, if you get a cookie notification, always ignore it, always block it.
	S personal view as guidance	Erik : So, our own values, our own ethics, as it were, form what the guidelines are for the company.
Strategical decisions based on feelings	S based on feeling	Erik : Yes. Basically when we get clients that cost us more pain than enjoyment, or when we notice that a group isn't functioning as it should, or it's basically a high empathy group. And we are as well, so it's not all down to feeling, but feeling does play a big part of it.
	Strategy changes	Bart : Well, yes, yes it changes, it changes as the objectives change too.
	Strategy based on feelings	Erik : When it's something we can control. And the agency is not something we can control in the sense that it's the agency the client uses in which we have no say. And in what we do have a say is the guidelines we adhere. So in this case we'll make a choice in doing what we think is the right thing, instead of choosing the agency which is not an option right now.
	Strategy and ethics are intertwined	Erik : But our strategy is doing things ethically, so it's intertwined. So for us to do our work, and for me to be able to sleep at night doing it, I need to do it the way I do it right now, because I believe in authentic communication and being an authentic brand and being what you say you are instead of what you want to be. So for me it's. intertwined. Everything I do is on the intersection of strategy and ethics.

		E not femilier with	Parts No. no film not formitize with statical with the set of the test of the
		E not familiar with ethical guidelines	Bart : No, no [I'm not familiar with ethical guidelines in the industry]. There will undoubtedly be. I do not doubt that. There are guidelines for everything, but I never looked them up.
		Unfamiliar with ethical standards	Erik: I don't know if there their standard agreements.
	ne arity	Not interested in all regulations	Sjors : So no, I don't necessarily know all about the regulations. I'm not the one who would want to delve into that, because that sort of thing is not my area of interest, so to speak.
	Guideline unfamiliarity	No manual for ethics	Bart: [] I don't have a manual for that.
	0 un	No product ethical guidelines	Thijs: Company HC doesn't have anything on paper for that at all.
		S no clear strategy	Jurgen : And I can immediately say that we are not a company that has a clear strategy.
	liarity	S go with the flow	Erik : In emails, it might be written down sometimes. We try to define clear goals and set it on paper, but we do not really have a culture that's big on reports or papers. So basically it's what we decide that it is, and it's not like there are certain targets we need to meet or measurables that we need to look at to see if the strategy is working. It's basically just we'll know when we see kind of thing.
Unfamiliarity Strategy unfamiliarity	Strategy unfami	S only communicated to specific employees	Jurgen: So in case of the example I gave, for this case we communicated very clear with the department that's involved. Like: "Hey, we're setting up this video, we're setting up this email with an infographic that we're going to send to the customer.", so that they know what the processes will be. But that's only communicated to those five, six colleagues. It's not a company-wide strategy that we spread to each and everyone so that everybody knows it and is aware of it.
		S working towards creating strategy	Jurgen : [] but it's not that we have a clear marketing strategy or that we have a clear marketing team set up. But that's in the making.
		S not well thought out	Jurgen : So, they have a clear thought of what they want, but there's no strategy behind it for whatsoever.
	ح	DP unfamiliar	Marloes: I don't know what it is anymore.
	with	DP only heard of	Matthijs: I have heard of it, but I don't really know what it is, no.
	Unfamiliarity v ethics	DP wrong understanding	Pieter : Yeah, I think it's a behaviour that has sneaked into you or your organization or to your team, which you are not fundamentally aware of. However, if someone has a mirror and shows you your own behaviour from a distance, you may draw the conclusion that it's not in the best interest of others, and that it may be even unethical behaviour, for instance.
Design choices	User centred design choices	User centred design example	Sjors : Because if you talk to the client, look at a truck company, yes, what are you going to show? And from the client's point of view, he wants to show his truck, because he's very happy with it, he's proud of it. But from the visitor's point of view, that's not what you're there for. You just want your package to be delivered from A to B as quickly as possible and for a good price. Yes, and so yes, the [end user] is what we make the site for.
	User centre	Product is for the end user	Sjors : But I always say clearly: "We're not making the site for you, but for your customers, your visitors. So we always take the end user as our starting point when creating the website. But that doesn't necessarily have an ethical point of view, it mainly has a commercial point of view, I'll be very honest about that.

		F	Adapte Detailer under teilen ihre der beiten der
		E user centred design	Mark : But also we try to look when we design new features or redesign current features we mostly think about what does the customer want and how do they want to use it? How does it need to look? We can make the application for them instead of for ourselves, in that way.
		End user most important	Pieter : So they are eventually your main audience and your target audience as well. Which means that you need to start making decisions and focusing on the MVP, the minimum viable product, for the end user. So, yeah, that would make your end users the most important.
		End user uses it	Thijs: If the end user doesn't use it, it's no use to the client either.
		End user buys the product	Matthijs : Good, I think the most important thing is the end user. Because he has to buy the product or service. And it's important that you can convince the client of how you think he can best achieve his goal. Through the right strategy. To come back to that.
		Reformulate the client's question	Sjors : Well, I always start by reformulating the client's question from the end user's point of view. Of course, it is then framed in the client's favour.
		Build stuff for the end user	Jurgen : To me, the end user, because if I look at the stuff that we build, eventually complains that the end user has will fall back to us.
		E end product: user friendly	Mark : But also you try to make it as friendly as possible. So you are going to try to make it as clean as possible and as user friendly as possible. So the users also feel delighted when they use the application.
	Unethical choices	E unethical end product	Jurgen : We are starting with a new product. Maybe that's relatable. It's called 'safe internet'. It's a product that we are setting up right now, which involves an application for companies that can monitor their internet traffic. For instance, if you have an organization that helps psychiatric patients, you might want to shield them of their triggers, to stop the triggers. You might want to shield them off with those triggers and we are providing those organizations with a product that they can monitor their own internet traffic. So that could be something that's a bit involved with ethics. Personally [I would consider that product] unethical. But that's my opinion, because I'm a very strong believer of free speech, free internet, free everything. But, I understand that there's a, there may be an urge to help people and to, as I said, they tried to shield of people from the triggers that they have, customs these people have, the problems that these people have maybe an actual disease and you want to help these people. So I understand why. But still from that deep from within my core values, I would always say free Internet for everyone.
		Unethical: abuse	Matthijs: "I want this, I don't want to make this, I don't agree with how it is made now." But, suppose now, that is that I have come up with certain design, which I like, then I would say of: "I don't agree with it, but I'll make it." But if it really is racism or animal abuse, then I think I would refuse it. I don't want to attach my name to that. Or trafficking in women, or #metoo. Yes, I think that if people do harm to someone with it, then yes, I would have a problem with it.
		Unethical: ignoring the law	Erik : Okay. For example, we're trying to make a video for a client. And that client is, he has a group accommodations and he hosts school camps. So we're making a video centred around a boy age 12 ish. So we need to cast someone that is 12 ish or looks 12 ish, which means it's a child, with child labour laws, which means he can only work for 4 hours on a school day. You can't work past a certain time at the end of the day. Which is all something I believe in, and is right. One way I would say that is unethical is for the casting agency to say: "Well, if you don't say anything, we won't say anything.". For me, that's a no go.

		Unethical: lying	Sjors : Yes, look, I am in favour of not lying, you can frame but not lying.
	E unethical project	Thijs: We did have a project here once by Company HK, where they were looking for: "How can we develop a dashboard so that we can deplete the oil fields even further?", you know. So that's more general, so to speak. Contributing to a product that actually has some unethical impact. But that's just in my opinion.	
		E don't work with fur	Matthijs : No, I don't think that's acceptable. For example fur, if a company sells fur, yes, I wouldn't want to work for that. But I have a feeling that our company, that my company, is not going to do that either. But those are certain things I would oppose, shall we say.
		Cancel unethical projects	Erik: If we feel as a company that indeed the project is unethical, then we'll stop and we'll stand by the employee either way. But sometimes it means another employee picks up the project, and sometimes it means that we'll stop the project or even cancel the relationship with the client.
	E working for unethical projects	Thijs: And then they said yes to that company, but then at a certain point it came down to hosting a certain workshop, which is something I do a lot, and that a certain knowledge was lacking to do that properly. And then it was like: "Oh, yes, but Thijs, can't you just take a look?" And then I thought: "Yes, I'm happy to do that for that colleague, because I'm happy to share my knowledge". But then when you know what it's used for, then you think: "Shit!". And then you work for the same company. So of course, I shared my knowledge, but then we all realised: we actually have to agree across the board on whether we're going to work for something or not. Because otherwise there is no point.	
		Unethical: exploiting	Pieter: An example might be that I sign up for a newsletter somewhere and suddenly I get three other newsletters as well. That may be something that where I draw the line and feel exploited. Then I don't allow this organization to have my data anymore.
		Unethical: accessibility	Thijs: And in web development, that's what accessibility is all about: that you don't live up to it. That people who can't see can't use a page. Or not using non-binary pronouns in a form. I think it's easy to be unethical in web development.
		E digital sustainability	Thijs: And also digital sustainability, so making sure your images are not too big and that you use fewer images, or use more dark tones.
	Contradicting choices	Money driven design choices	Bart : Yes, I think to generate turnover. If dark patterns by definition are something that is not in the interest of the end consumer, then I can't really think of any other good reason than purely to make money. It's not as if they suddenly arrive at a page where they think: "Hey, that's nice! I can also take a package deal like that". Do you see that as a dark pattern as well?
Contra	Contra	E can't turn down unethical projects	Thijs : But then at a certain point it was like: "Can we actually say no?". Because we all work in a certain company, we also have to achieve a certain turnover.

	Net to an 1	
	Not turning down unethical projects	Sjors: Mmm yes, we have had requests for an assignment, yes, drop shipping, things like that. And yes, I also consciously said no to those right away. On the one hand, because they are clients who you don't really want to have anything to do with, in terms of personality - I'm not saying it right - but more because they are clients who are all about the quick money. Yes, then you also make ethical choices to earn quick money, while what you are doing is actually indirectly more of a scam. You sell a product as if it's ready to go and you disguise the fact that the delivery time is five weeks, or seven weeks. It has also been an ethical mission that you thought: "We're not going to take this on". But I have to be honest and say that I also had to convince my employer at the time and then the decision was made to simply put the amount so high that we said: "Well, if he wants it, then for this amount", and then we'll do it, fine. But that was not his choice. So that was the way it was handled at the time. Not necessarily the best story.
	Making better	Erik : There is always nuance to that, I think, because there's bills to be paid. You have the luxury of only thinking about the end user
	choices due to income	when you're not the one responsible for feeding families or for the salaries of families that need to be fed. So yes, always the end user and yes, we'll always try to get a project that is more in line with what we feel is our ethics or our culture, even if that means that it won't make as much money. But there's the nuance that there are still bills to be paid. So, that's not a black and white issue.
	Privacy: knowing better	Pieter : So privacy by design, privacy by default as well. Such things are really important because we have been making applications that do exactly the opposite
	Data driven decisions	Erik : Yeah, for websites it's customary to have some form of analytics. Which I sort of get, believe in, I believe in the power of data and making decisions through data, I'm just not a fan of how they get the data.
	Strategy as dish of the day	Jurgen: And on our side, it's more the soup of the day. So: "Oh today it's glass fibre. I have feeling, a good feeling about glass fibre. Let's promote glass fibre." But, when we then see, for instance, a huge glass fibre campaign of a competitor, that maybe costs a few million euros, this idea immediately gets thrown out of the window. "Oh no, oh no, it's not needed." So, it's not that we strategize our guerrilla tactics let's say. It's really how the wind is blowing that day.
	Questioning own work	Sjors : Well, now I'm not necessarily a very good guide myself, because I'm quite aware of those techniques, even if I do fall for them. Let's be honest. But we have done a campaign on Instagram before and you thought: "Yeah, what they're selling, as if it's ecological", you know. It's a sustainable brand, that's promoted, and it's actually from Thailand. So maybe a sustainable product, but you don't know what kind of factory it was. Yes, then I think: "Yes, it may be sustainable, but that material". That was a moment when I thought: "What am I doing now? Anyway, that campaign wasn't necessarily very successful either. It was also a kind of: well, look beautiful, that's also nice for my own peace of mind
	Cookies don't really work	Sjors : And that there are cookie notifications everywhere and that you have to indicate that you only want to use the functional cookies, not all the others. Good that they are there. There are tons of tools out there that actually ask for them, but don't even apply them, and still keep track of everything about you.
	Manipulation not bad	Bart : But maybe manipulation is not necessarily a bad thing. It does have, I think, a negative association. But look, yes, such an interface, so to speak, that we make for a grower to perform a task, yes, we put it in like that. So yes, the buttons that he probably has to press are larger and of a certain colour. And ultimately, we help him with that too. What's more, it is appreciated. But yes, you do manipulate him. And I think, in that context, it is not something bad.